



MKM227 Postgraduate Dissertation

Student Number: 1248775

	Comments	Max Mark	Actual Mark
Introduction Identification of a valid topic, research question and objectives framed to Masters Level standard with academic rationale developed, clear industry contextualisation of the research topic	Supervisor Comments: 2 nd marker Comments:	10%	
Critical Literature Review Depth and breadth of literature search, engagement with seminal authors and papers, evidence of a critical approach toward the scholarly literature	Supervisor Comments: 2 nd marker Comments:	25%	

	Supervisor Comments:		
Research Methodology Evaluation of research philosophies and perspectives. Justification of methodological approach, sampling strategy, data analysis and reliability and validity measures as applicable	2 nd marker Comments:	15%	
	Supervisor Comments:		
		35%	
Data Analysis and Interpretation Evidence of rigor in data analysis and			

	and to a		
interpretation procedures, identification of	2 nd marker Comments:		
kev patterns and themes in the research			
data integration of academic theory into			
data, integration of academic theory into			
explanation of findings			
	Supervisor Comments:		
Conclusions and			
Recommendations			
Recommendations			
Research question and objectives			
addressed with implications to theoretical			
and managerial concepts considered.	ond we ard an O arrange and a	400/	
Recommendations provided for theory	2 marker Comments:	10%	
practice and future research			
	Supervisor Comments:		
	Supervisor Comments.		
		5%	

Organisation, presentation, and references. Well structured and ordered dissertation with correct use of grammar and syntax. In-text citation and bibliography conforming to "Cite Them Right"	2 nd marker Comments:		
	First Marker Total		
Total	Second Marker Total	100%	
Supervisor General Comments:		Agreed	Mark:

2 nd Marker General Comments:		

Supervisor's Name: Signature:



The Risk Management Practices of Microfinance Institutions in Nigeria

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements of the Royal Docks Business School, University of East London for the degree of

MSc. International Accounting and Finance

[May,2014]

[15,267]

I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award

Student Number: 1248775

Date: 11/05/2014



Table of Contents

The Risk Management Practices of Microfinance Institutions in Nigeria	6
Dissertation Deposit Agreement	
Dissertation Details	
Dedication	
Acknowledgement	
Abstract	
Chapter 1- Introduction	
Introduction	
Background of the study	21
Statement of the Problem	
Research Objectives	
Research Questions	23
Research Methodology	
Significance of the study	
Possible contribution to Knowledge	24
Structure of the study	24
Chapter 2 Literature Review	
General Overview of the Microfinance Industry	
Evolution of Microfinance	
Evidence from Ghana (A developing Country)	
Overview of Microfinance Activities in Nigeria (2006 - 2010)	
Microfinance Policy Targets in Nigeria	
Risks in Microfinance Institutions	
Credit Risk	
Liquidity Risk	
Market Risk	
Interest Rate Risk	

The Risk Management Practices of Microfinance Institutions in Nigeria 1248775

Foreign Exchange Risk	
Investment Portfolio Risk	
Operational Risk	
Transaction Risk	
Fraud Risk	39
Reputation Risks	39
Credit Scoring	39
Chapter 3 Research Methodology	41
Introduction	
Research Design	41
Sampling Size and Techniques	41
Research Methodology	42
Panel Data Methodology	42
Validity and Reliability of Data Collection Process.	45
Research Plan	46
Research Plan Research Strategy	46
Research Plan Research Strategy Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specifica	46 47 ation48
Research Plan Research Strategy Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specifica Dependent Variable	46 47 ation48 48
Research Plan Research Strategy Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specifica Dependent Variable Bank-Related Proxies	46 47 ation48 48 49
Research Plan Research Strategy Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specifica Dependent Variable Bank-Related Proxies Macroeconomic Determinants	46 47 ation48 48 49 50
Research Plan Research Strategy Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specifica Dependent Variable Bank-Related Proxies Macroeconomic Determinants Econometric Specification	46 47 ation48 48 48 49 50
Research Plan Research Strategy Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specifica Dependent Variable Bank-Related Proxies Macroeconomic Determinants Econometric Specification Chapter 4 Data Analysis and Interpretation of Results	46 47 ation48 48 49 50 51 51
Research Plan Research Strategy Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specifica Dependent Variable Bank-Related Proxies Macroeconomic Determinants Econometric Specification Chapter 4 Data Analysis and Interpretation of Results Introduction	
Research Plan Research Strategy Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specifica Dependent Variable Bank-Related Proxies Macroeconomic Determinants Econometric Specification Chapter 4 Data Analysis and Interpretation of Results Introduction Data Collection and Process	46 47 ation48 48 49 50 50 51 51 52 52
Research Plan Research Strategy Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specifica Dependent Variable Bank-Related Proxies Macroeconomic Determinants Econometric Specification Chapter 4 Data Analysis and Interpretation of Results Introduction Data Collection and Process Empirical Analysis	46
Research Plan Research Strategy Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specifica Dependent Variable Bank-Related Proxies Macroeconomic Determinants Econometric Specification Chapter 4 Data Analysis and Interpretation of Results Introduction Data Collection and Process Empirical Analysis	46 47 ation48 48 49 50 50 51 51 52 52 52 52 53 53
Research Plan Research Strategy Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specifica Dependent Variable Bank-Related Proxies Macroeconomic Determinants Econometric Specification Chapter 4 Data Analysis and Interpretation of Results Introduction Data Collection and Process Empirical Analysis Panel Results Descriptive Statistics	46 47 ation48 48 49 50 50 51 51 52 52 52 52 53 53 53

The Risk Management Practices of Microfinance Institutions in Nigeria 1248775

A'Priori Expectations and Statistical Significance	56
Test of Robustness	63
More Discussions and Findings	63
Distribution of Microfinance banks in Nigeria	64
Chapter 5	71
Summary and Conclusion	71
Chapter 6 Recommendations	73
Policy Recommendations: A Brief Outlook	73
Recommendation to Industry Practitioners	73
Recommendations to Regulators and Policy Makers	74
Further Considerations and Research	75



Dissertation Deposit Agreement

Libraries and Learning Services at UEL is compiling a collection of dissertations identified by academic staff as being of high quality. These dissertations will be included on ROAR the UEL Institutional Repository as examples for other students following the same courses in the future, and as a showcase of the best student work produced at UEL.

This Agreement details the permission we seek from you as the author to make your dissertation available. It allows UEL to add it to ROAR and make it available to others. You can choose whether you only want the dissertation seen by other students and staff at UEL ("Closed Access") or by everyone worldwide ("Open Access").

I DECLARE AS FOLLOWS:

- That I am the author and owner of the copyright in the Work and grant the University
 of East London a licence to make available the Work in digitised format through the
 Institutional Repository for the purposes of non-commercial research, private study,
 criticism, review and news reporting, illustration for teaching, and/or other educational
 purposes in electronic or print form
- That if my dissertation does include any substantial subsidiary material owned by third-party copyright holders, I have sought and obtained permission to include it in any version of my Work available in digital format via a stand-alone device or a communications network and that this permission encompasses the rights that I have granted to the University of East London.
- That I grant a non-exclusive licence to the University of East London and the user of the Work through this agreement. I retain all rights in the Work including my moral right to be identified as the author.
- That I agree for a relevant academic to nominate my Work for adding to ROAR if it meets their criteria for inclusion, but understand that only a few dissertations are selected.
- Thatif the repository administrators encounter problems with any digital file I supply, the administrators may change the format of the file. I also agree that the Institutional Repository administrators may, without changing content, migrate the Work to any medium or format for the purpose of future preservation and accessibility.
- That I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the Work is original, and does not to the best of my knowledge break any UK law, infringe any third party's copyright or other Intellectual Property Right, or contain any confidential material.
- That I understand that the University of East London does not have any obligation to take legal action on behalf of myself, or other rights holders, in the event of infringement of intellectual property rights, breach of contract or of any other right, in the Work.

I FURTHER DECLARE:

• That I can choose to declare my Work "Open Access", available to anyone worldwide using ROAR without barriers and that files will also be available to automated agents, and may be searched and copied by text mining and plagiarism detection software.

• That if I do not choose the Open Access option, the Work will only be available for use by accredited UEL staff and students for a limited period of time./cont



Dissertation Details

Field Name	
Title of thesis	
Full title, including any subtitle	The Risk Management Practices of Microfinance Banks in Nigeria
Author	
Separate the surname (family name) from the forenames, given names or initials with a comma, e.g. Smith, Andrew J.	Alele, Oluwaseun Abiodun
Supervisor(s)/advisor	
Format as for author.	Eric Boahen
Author Affiliation	
Name of school where you were based	Royal Docks Business School
Qualification name	
E.g. MA, MSc, MRes, PGDip	MSc
Course Title	International Accounting and Finance
The title of the course e.g.	MKM227 Postgraduate Dissertation
Date of Dissertation	12 th May2014
Date submitted in format: YYYY-MM	2014-05
Do you want to make the dissertation Open Access (on the public web) or Closed Access (for UEL users only)?	Open Closed

By returning this form electronically from a recognised UEL email address or UEL network system, I grantUEL the deposit agreement detailed above. I understand inclusion on and removal from ROAR is at UEL's discretion.

Name: Alele, Oluwaseun Abiodun

Signature: Seal

Date: 11-05-2014



Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to Almighty God, the king of kings and the lord of all lords, the giver of life, wisdom and understanding.

Also to Mr and Mrs P.I. Alele for being the best parents and my first teacher in the world, I LOVE YOU!!!

Acknowledgement

The completion of this thesis would not have been possible without resource support received from eminent persons. I would like to express my appreciation and thanks to God first for his manifold grace and blessings towards me in the completion of my programme.

I am indebted to the following persons and families; The Akinyemi's, The Adebomi's, The Ibironke's, The Akinduro's, The Alawode's, (Special thanks to the Emmanuel Fanifosi famiy for all the love, support, care shown to me, hosting and making my sojourn in the UK a lovely one to remember for ages to come), and for providing the necessary support at varying times in my academic and professional life.

The professional advice received from my tutor and supervisor, Mr Eric Boahen has been invaluable and the academic support from Dr Stefan Lutz, Dr Chau, Prof. Nora Colton, Prof John Joughin can never be quantifiable as no amount of words can describe the depth of my gratitude to you.

The support from my siblings Sister Jummy, Olayide, Omobolanle and Feyisayo has been emotionally reinforcing and inspiring as they contributed in no small measure their quote towards the successful completion of my throughout my programme. Your prayers at all times gave me the strength and motivation to push on despite the potentials challenges.

Lastly, to all my colleagues and friends from the Global Scholars Programme, Economics Society, Elite Representatives, Programme Representatives, at the Royal Docks Business School, University of East London, it was a real life changing experience interacting with you and sharing opinion on various discourse.

As Isaac Newton once said and I quote "If I have seen further, it is by standing on the shoulders of giants."

Abstract

Microfinance has been generally termed worldwide as a key developmental tool in reaching poor people, targeting and delivering quality evidence based program to alleviate the challenges of poverty and economy defects of the lowly in the society.

Risk is an all-encompassing phenomenon in the world of finance and it is situated at the core of any economic activities. The global financial Tsunami of 2007/2008 became a topical issue in the world of finance and an eye-opener amongst scholars and professionals in the financial world as the need for a more regulated and supervised financial system became more obvious.

The increasing need for implementation of an effective risk management strategy or policy necessary for booms and expansion in the economy has been an important goal of individuals, firms, and government of developing nations, especially a country like Nigeria with an official population figure of 170m.

The study employed Panel Data Analysis to investigate the impacts of an effective risk management tool using Return on Assets (ROA), Portfolio at Risk (PAR at 30days), and Gross Loan Portfolio as explanatory variables and then used the Capital Adequacy ratio as dependent variables while controlling for Inflation rate and Economic growth rate.

(Microfinance Banks, Risk Management, Capital Adequacy Ratio, Panel Data Analysis, Nigeria)

Chapter 1- Introduction

Introduction

Microfinance has been generally termed worldwide as a key developmental tool in reaching poor people, targeting and delivering quality evidence based program to alleviate the challenges of poverty and economy defects of the lowly in the society. (DFID, 2011; Petticrew & Roberts, 2006)

The availability of this depth is seen as an avenue to alleviating poverty and a core developmental strategy. These financial services range from credit, savings, insurance, funds transfer, and even entrepreneurial loans all at the micro level. This has increased the general economic welfare and health of the poor people. (Consultative Group to Assist the Poor, 2003)

In other words, microfinance has been seen to improve the status of poor people with a definite financial results or outcomes and non-financial results in terms of purchase of assets, savings, health, housing, employment, and economic empowerment. (Afrane, 2002; Beck, Demirguc-kunt, & Levine, 2004; Hietalahti & Linden, 2006; Hossain & Knight, 2008; Odell, 2010)

Also, Bateman (2010, 2011), Dichter (2007), Fernando (2006) and Roy (2010) has not only increased the questions of Microfinance being seen as a poverty reduction program with developmental outcomes but also there have been questions raised on its around its main ideologies

Therefore, Microfinance in developing countries is generally perceived as an avenue to ease the incidence of poverty and over the last three decades, it has provided the necessary platform for access to finance among the poor and the lowly in the society which increases their economic output as individuals and viability as a business. (Armenda ´riz de Aghion & Morduch, 2005; Morduch, 1999).

In 2011, the Microcredit Summit Campaign reported that 3,703 MFIs were providing financial services to about 200million customers with 60% of them very poor.

There are several key risk elements facing the microfinance industry quest to transforming people's lives, which include but not limited to overindebtedness, excessive lending, management quality, and lack of corporate governance framework as major problems in the industry. (CSFI, 2012)

The above view coupled with its inability to manage and supervise risks was also corroborated by the works of McKee (2012)

Armendariz and Morduch, 2010) submitted that Microfinance is an industry with thousands of firms and businesses or organisations serving about 155million clients. It was birthed as an economic tool to reach the unbanked and those who can't find access to financial services.

The growth of microfinance is curtailed with the increasing pressure and strong contest between traditional banking and microfinance (Evans, 2010; Hermes et al., 2011, Hoque et al., 2011; Khavul, 2010).

In light of the above, the goal of any microfinance scheme is to aid the process of reducing if not quashing the fiery darts of poverty with aids and charitable donations but this has always received little or no significant reward. (Armendariz & Morduch, 2010; Dichter, 1999)

Ledgerwood (1999) position was further buttressed by Patil (2011) saying that Microfinance has evolved to be an economic phenomenon with ability to make provision for better financial services and cheaper access to credit through the credit unions.

Microfinance Industry in the new dynamic world must endeavour to provide a whole gamut of products to the unbanked and those ignored by traditional

banks, thus, encouraging economic growth and entrepreneurial drive in the world poorest regions.

The envisaged growth will need some macro-wide changes in the structure of the microfinance area of finance and erase doubts to its role as a scheme for reducing poverty in the face of commercial banking struggles. (Chowdhury, 2009; Armendaiz & Morduch, 2010; Epstein & Yuthas, 2010; Roodman, 2012)

Although microfinance has gained momentum and speed because of its widespread acceptability, the recent past it has grown dramatically from being an offshoot of the banking industry into a amore structured industry of its own with better governance practices and interesting financial performance.

Additionally, this growth has been spurred by the use of both quantitative and qualitative risk management tools. The distinctive nature of its specialist core gives microfinance its own goals and objectives and the research done in this area has given it's a platform of being successful and reaching a wide audience particularly determined by other things. (Al-Azzam, Mimouni & Ali, 2012; Al-Mamun, Adaikalam & Wahab, 2012) as well as operational subtleties. (Ayayi, 2012; Bhattamishra & Barrett, 2010; Hartaska & Nadolnyak, 2007)

Risk is an all-encompassing phenomenon in the world of finance and is at the core of any economic activities. The global financial Tsunami of 2007/2008 became a topical issue in the world of finance and an eye- opener amongst scholars and professionals in the financial world as the need for a more regulated and supervised financial system became more obvious. (F. Sajjad, U. Noreen & K.Zaman (2013)

The major impact of this global phenomenon has seen the financial health and stability of countries severely hit and the near-collapse of major world economies. Inadvertently, this has revealed the inadequacies and the flawed nature of the risks models used by these financial institutions and importance of liquidity and safety of financial instruments or assets of clients. (Sutton, C.N. and B. Jenkins, 2007, Dalis, D.T., 2010)

The volatilities in the financial services sector is outside the purview of these mathematical models, it is more centred on effective regulatory systems with good corporate governance on the subject of behavioural finance. These financial institutions especially MFIs have come to the realization that managing risks is not about their peculiar differences but they must evolve to become dynamic and competitive in their daily operation. (Sutton, C.N. and B. Jenkins, 2007, Dalis, D.T., 2010)

Hull (2007) posited that the most important basic formation for every firm is that the banker must know the weight of risks with the nature of the risk she wants to fund going forward.

Risk is at the heart of financial intermediation between surplus areas and deficit areas. Firm specific risks management is still an evolving part of the microfinance industry. The growth and depth of Microfinance institutions has seen the underserved and unreached been able to have access to basic financial services which has indirectly increased the risk profiles of these firms. (Nimal A. Fernando, 2008)

Nevertheless, a higher percentage of these microfinance institutions still ignore the basic credit risk, operational risk, liquidity risk and other types of risks in favour of high growth rates in the industry.

The array of microfinance initiatives embarked upon all around the world are situated on the premise of trying to alleviate poverty (Khandker, 1998; 2005) as about 3billion poor people in developing countries are faced daily with the herculean task of living on less than \$2 daily.

Microfinance institutions are varied in depth and this diversity is attached to a larger number of them set up as charitable (Not for profit) organisations, non - governmental, and an increasing larger number as private-public partnerships.(Battilana& Dorado, 2010). (Imai *et al.*,2012; Pitt and Khandker, 1998) see Microfinance institutions as a sure platform for easing then scourge of poverty.

Microfinance aims to serve as a platform of accessing financial services or systems by the poor of the society through carefully crafted economic programs for entrepreneurial success. These are given to individuals who have no access to a formal commercial banking institution.

However, the survivability of MFIs has been hindered by the lack of effective risk management skills or practices (Rwanda: Microfinance Sector, 2006; Alexander-Tedeschi, 2006, Jorion (2007).

Gupta, Chaula, & Harkawat (2012) submitted in their report that there is a high population of individuals who are in such developing countries that have gotten unfettered access to the main financial services through microfinance programs.

Nevertheless, there is still a large pool of communities who still don't have access to these products because of the demand cum supply complexities. Thus, in providing these financial services to the un -banked in developing countries, microfinance institutions need to embark on strict and regulated credit risk management and policies.

Ajayi (2012) posited that credit risk can be mitigated by deploying good qualitative and quantitative risk management tools.

The birth of an effective risk management policy or systems by microfinance institutions is more of a symbiotic relationship wherein microfinance institutions provide the funds and access to funding of different projects and the borrowers take up the funds for expansion and growth purposes.

In effect, there are various studies which indicated that the existence of a microfinance Institution with effective risk management practices can serve as a basis for growth and development in a country.

In retrospect, a fully developed financial market can only exist when it promotes economic and financial stability necessary for growth; this further increases the propensity for foreign direct investment and ultimately provides the necessary links to a developed economy.

Background of the study

The Microfinance Industry is an interesting and challenging industry to study. The recent increase in interest generated by microfinance institutions has made the Industry as a whole be seen as an indicator for economic growth only if the risks inherent in this industry are managed effectively.

The underlying interest in Microfinance institutions is gleaned from the dynamic nature of the business environment and the reaction of these microfinance Institutions going forward. Efficient risk management practices are still at the front burner of most institutes and policy research units in trying to understand the 2007/2008 financial crisis.

Statement of the Problem

The research will look into the following problems in the microfinance Industry and attempts to proffer solutions to the raging problems impeding the growth and development of the country.

A large number of MFB's in Nigeria were poor in understanding the importance of microfinance and its potentials to delivering financial services to its target groups. Many of these MFB's were badly affected by the global financial crisis as their credit lines fizzled out, thereby raising their credit risk, high rate of default on their loans because of the pressures and shocks in the business environment.(CBN,2010)

All these pressures weakened the microfinance industry in Nigeria and rendered its powerless in contributing to the economic development of the rural areas.

The directive by the Central Bank to conduct target examination of these MFB's in 2010 revealed the existence of 224 out of the 820 MFB's were terminally distressed and technically insolvent and were not in business operation for at least six months. (CBN Press Conference on the state of Microfinance banks, 2010)

K.C. Moghalu, (2010), highlighted the following problems as the major causes of the problems in the MFBs:

- High occurrence of risky weighting in the profile of banks.
- The need for capital the operational framework of these MFB's
- High occurrence of non-performing insider related credits and insider abuse
- Lack of a strong management and weak governance.
- High operating losses due to high overheads.
- Weak management decisions as revealed by the poor asset quality, poor credit administration and little or no financial controls.

Research Objectives

The rationale or purpose of this research is aimed at the impact of risk management practices of MFIs in Nigeria with specific reference to the economic growth it can bring to the country.

It will also look at the financing gaps in the SME in Nigeria and the role they can play in developing a robust financial services sector.

More importantly, the research will evaluate the impact of the Microfinance policy and Guidelines established in 2005 with a revised paper in 2011 on the unbanked population in Nigeria. (CBN, Microfinance Policy 2011).

The study seeks;

- To critically evaluate the effects of risk exposure on capital position of MFBs in Nigeria.
- To determine the extent of economic indices on the portfolio quality of microfinance institutions.
- To determine the extent to which microfinance institutions are immune or shielded away from systemic risks
- To examine the impact of liquidity ratio on the risk capacity of microfinance institutions

Research Questions

The specific questions this research will attempt to answer in the world of microfinance Institutions in Nigeria include but not limited to;

- What are the implications of microfinance institutions exposure to credit risk management in Nigeria?
- What impacts does return on assets of microfinance institutions have on the overall economic growth of Nigeria?
- How can microfinance institutions use efficient risk management systems to retain capital and liquidity in the banking industry in Nigeria?

Research Methodology

The research will employ the use of descriptive approach in general and hypothesis formation, this gives a comparison between risk management in Nigeria and other countries.

The criteria of effective risk profiling in financial institutions is to prevent and withstand shocks and pressures of insolvency. Looking into this, the studies by Saunders and Cornett (2006) gives an interesting dimension on insolvency as it is premised on the twin effects of recurring liquidity problems and dire capital erosion.

Significance of the study

The significance tend to start from the unavailability or the little research work done in the field of microfinance institutions in Nigeria. Especially, risk management, which is a central theme in finance.

A key tool is also the need for appropriate policy guidelines on risk management which is critical to the success of the microfinance industry. This will help in expanding the operational strategy of meeting the financial needs of the low-income earners, entrepreneurs in the SMEs and the poor people in the country.

Therefore, there is the need for individuals, firms and the government at all levels to increase the total output by raising the standard of living and the general economic well-being through sustained and concerted efforts. This will break the cycle of poverty; reduce economic lags, and eventually move towards attainment of full macroeconomic employment of resources.

The attainment of this full employment of resources or full output requires large capital injection to individuals with a need in small bits and this is the essence of microfinance.

Possible contribution to Knowledge

The Research study will help to reveal the various issues centred on risk management and much more importantly help in the provision of a research study into the risk practices in the financial services sector with more focus on the microfinance industry.

The study will look specific ways by which the industry can growth and strategies that can be undertaken by firms to reach the unbanked population in Nigeria.

It will also stimulate further research into ways by which the microfinance sub sector can also increase the depth and outreach. This will also help the corporate governance structure and internal control of MFIs in Nigeria.

The study will also help to increase the viability of microfinance lending to businesses and reduce the fears of individuals who still hold the view that MFIs are rural community banks and can't be involved in high structured financing transactions.

Structure of the study

Chapter one will serve as an introductory exposure into the field of microfinance institutions and the impact risk management have on microfinance institutions. It will include statement of the study, objectives of the study, significance of the study, limitations, and possible contribution to the study.

Chapter two will include critical literature review of existing theories on risk management within the microfinance institutions and the opinion of various empirical studies.

Chapter three will give an exposure on the research methodology to be used in the study and the approach to using research philosophy. It will look at the use of quantitative tools of research to explain the relationship between the variables and the connection to theory.

Chapter four will give a broad outline to the data collected in the previous chapter, explaining the links between the research questions and hypothesis testing.

Chapter five is a section that will answer questions within the research itself and provide answer to existing controversies around microfinance institutions and their risk management practices.

Chapter six will provide recommendations policy makers, management practice in microfinance institutions for the academic community and interests for proffering solutions to the knowledge gaps that may exist within this area.

Chapter 2 Literature Review

The objective of this critical literature review in this research will be on the various works and writings of various authors and writers on the risk management practices of financial institutions with particular emphasis on microfinance banks. It is in line with this, that we look at the specific context in themes and sub-themes. For this study, we will be looking at the current body of knowledge and identifying the gaps within the risk management of MFI's. The goal of this chapter is to link the hypotheses and literature together.

General Overview of the Microfinance Industry

Microfinance has seen today has become a force to be reckoned with in its clime, with a sizable amount of organisations and firms serving around 155million clients globally. (Armendariz & Morduch, 2010).

Microfinance was initially birthed as a poverty alleviation platform with its goals of providing financial services to the unbanked. (Dichter, 1999; Yunus, 2007)

In line with the spurt of growth potentials, came the need to battle the rising interest in the area of commercial banking. (Evans, 2010; Hermes et al., 2011; Hoque et al., 2011; Khavul, 2010).

Armendariz & Morduch (2010; Dichter, 1999) in their studies described the sole objective of traditional approaches to poverty reduction were tagged as failures, especially as it relates to Africa.

With this growth in microfinance came large pockets of shifts in the organisation of the microfinance industry with varying differences in its position as a poverty reduction scheme. This was spurred on with the spiralling interest in traditional banking (Chowdhury, 2009; Armendaiz & Morduch, 2010; Epstein & Yuthas, 2010; Roodman, 2012).

Evans, 2010; Khavul, 2010; Hoque, Chishty & Halloway, 2011; Hermes, Lensink & Meesters, 2011 in their studies evaluated the puzzling issues surrounding how modern microfinance has been overtaken by commercial banking institutions that ignored the unbanked in the rural areas.

Armendariz and Morduch, (2010) posited that the objective of microfinance was to create avenues where the poor can conveniently have access to credit services which was very difficult to obtain from commercial banks and they had to employ agencies to recover it.

Additionally, Armendariz and Morduch, (2010) were also of the opinion that the group lending model of the early years of microfinance was also effective in reaching the poor in the society, which also reduced the transaction costs.

The various developments in microfinance industry brought about the need for infrastructural development in the industry with different organisations running research into Microfinance institutions and rating agencies like Mix Market serving and receiving voluntary information from Microfinance institutions. (Epstein and Yuthas, 2010)

Evolution of Microfinance

Microfinance was initially birthed as a poverty alleviation platform with its goals of providing financial services to the unbanked. (Dichter, 1999; Yunus, 2007)

The first movement in the field of MFI's was based on microcredit in 1970; most of the programs were aimed at providing US\$100 to highly disadvantaged with no collateral or avenues to formal credit.

Microcredit Institutions were generally NGO's which were non-profit organisations and welfare oriented. This saw the establishment of ACCION in Brazil and the development of microcredit in Bangladesh by Prof. Yunus in the 70's saw the Grameen Movement growing in numbers.

The successes that were recorded in Bangladesh from a humble start of US\$27 loan created a platform for the eventual spread and growth of microfinance throughout the world and led the UN to declare 2005 as the year of International Year of Microcredit. (Yunus, 2007)

The effects of the recent developments of economic recession and financial turmoil in the financial world have inflicted far reaching impacts on developing countries' economies.

The rate at which people lose confidence in the financial systems continue to rise, as well as the growing interest in microfinance being the developmental tool to solve the problems of poverty.

Even though there are conflicting reports on how microfinance can serve as a platform on which poverty can be alleviated.

(Imai et al., 2012; Pitt and Khandker, 1998) submitted that Microfinance is the developmental tool on which poverty can be alleviated and reduced as opposed to the contradictory views of view of (Bateman 2010) who felt it can't be sustained.

The increasing popularity of Microfinance has been made possible with its anti-poverty stance and drive to eradicating economic downturns in microbusinesses. (Banerjee & Duflo, 2011)

There has been a rampant increase in the number of MFI been establishes over the last three decades, which include an amalgamation of NGOs(nongovernmental organisations, commercial banks with franchises, credit unions, finance houses, providing financial services to about 40million clients globally. The total loan portfolios of these MFIs have grown to about \$17billion in 2006 with a likelihood of growing to about 300billion in the nearest future. (Erheck, 2006)

Callaghan et al. 2007 posited that there are estimates of about 15% to 30% annual growth rates with a demand of between \$2.5b and \$5b for additional portfolio capital each year, this will require about \$300million additional equity to fund the loan portfolio.

According to the Asian Development Bank (2000), it was suggested that there are for major models of microfinance activities and operations within the Asian economy and listed as:

- Grameen- Model Banking: the most important form of microfinance with its establishment as a form of small group of people in an organisation with a unified goal or attachment and very structured procedures of operation.
- Self -Help Groups: these are large and more unique group of individuals or firms with a mix of socio-cultural and financial intervention.
- Highly regulated and structured MFIs: these are more structured financial institutions with favourable support of regulatory organisations operating with the backing of a board of directors.
- Co-operatives; these are more close to the poor in the society providing credit to these categories of people.

Easton, 2005 opined that the unifying factor that makes microfinance institutions appealing is the low default rates, low market risk, increasing growth rates and good returns.

Evidence from Ghana (A developing Country)

The Ghanaian concept of microfinance institutions is developed through the model of rural and community banks (RCBs), which are operated like a commercial entity, within a particular community and not permitted to operate outside that immediate environment. Aboagye and Otieku, 2010)

Pollio & Obuobie, (2010) submitted through their study that microfinance institutions in Ghana have been undergoing rapid growth within the last decade at an annual rate of 20-30% providing financial and allied services to about 4million people in Ghana as compared to the 2.5million served by the commercial banks.

According to IFAD (2008) the microfinance institutions otherwise known as rural and community banks in Ghana constituted about half of the total banking platform and are said to be the largest supplier of financial; services to the rural area residents.

Nair and Fissha (2010) corroborated the above with the fact that these RCB's mobilized GHC343.9m as deposits, gave out as loan advances GHC224.7m,

transferred GHC63.3million locally, GHC9.3million internationally, and cleared cheques of GHC993.7million within the 2008 financial year.

Aboagye and Otieku (2010) feared that with the above figures and at these low levels, the expected impact of raising socio-economic development of rural areas may not be realised.

Nair and Fiussha (2010) submitted that the rate of loan default among a survey of financial institutions for more than 4weeks was 16%: a rate that was too high compared to the world average of 3% in the microfinance sector.

Aveh, Krah & Dadzie, (2013) posited in their study that lending was a very important issue when it comes to the risk of default in microfinance industry, accounting for a high rate of MFIs shutting down or going into liquidation.

These are issues obstructing a healthy microfinance institution and credit management policy, belittle their financial sustainability; thus, impeding their contribution to economic growth and development.

As evidenced by the study of Tyrone, Chia-Chi, & Chun-Hung, (2011), they asked financial institutions to be careful in identifying and recognising risky ventures to which loan receipts may be funded.

Bogan (2012), ascertained that the financial structure of banking institutions holds a important item in the world of finance; and further noted that the increasing use of MFIs as developmental tool in economic growth of economies can be ascribed to the impact that market capitalisation has on such economies.

Overview of Microfinance Activities in Nigeria (2006 – 2010) The Microfinance Industry in Nigeria had gone through a most challenging phase after the successful deployment of the Microfinance Policy in 2005. This was facilitated by the various issues raised within the banking sector consolidation era of 2005 which severely affected confidence in the Microfinance Industry.

Thus, most of the newly established MFI's called Microfinance Banks (MFB's) and community banks were operated in the form of traditional commercial banks. (CBN Revised Microfinance Policy, 2012)

A microfinance bank (MFB), refers to any company fully licensed by the CBN to provide financial products, credit facilities, the business of providing financial services such as savings and deposits, loans, funds to clients in the rural areas. (Revised Regulatory and Supervisory Guidelines for Microfinance Banks in Nigeria, 2012)

This has generated an increase in the number of licensed MFB's from 500 community banks pre-2005 era to its present figure of 866 MFBs post 2005 offering financial services like micro- credit, savings, and rural payment advices to its teeming rural population.

In spite of this positive development, a study investigated by Enhancing Financial Innovation and Access (EFInA) in 2010, discovered that about 40million Nigerians representing 46% of banking adults in Nigeria lacked access to financial services.

Additionally, from the remaining 54% that had access to financial services, 36% used commercial banks, while 18% resorted to using the informal financial institutions for their financial transactions.

The impact of the above study showed that Nigeria was far behind other sub-Saharan African countries like Botswana, South Africa, and Kenya with high financial inclusion rate of 67%, 74% and 67% respectively. (EFInA, 2010)

One of the core platforms which have been highlighted to stimulate economic growth in Nigeria is the microfinance industry which recorded in 2012 a value of 17.6 million MSME in existence employing about 33million individuals in various business activities and contributing about 47% of nominal GDP. (CBN Microfinance Policy, 2011) A joint survey by the IFC and McKinsey in 2010 revealed that about 80% of these MSMEs are excluded from the financial and financial services sector of the country.

The Microfinance Industry in Nigeria since the establishment of the Microfinance Policy Framework in 2005 had been battling with various impediments and challenges like ineffective risk management practices, inadequate understanding of their target market, lack of effective code of corporate governance amongst others. (CBN Microfinance Policy, 2011)

This later led to the demise of most of these microfinance institutions in the financial tsunami in 2008 which made competition stiffer and credit risk more intense as clients were faced with repaying their contractual obligations. The amalgamation of these factors led to the significant weaknesses found in the microfinance microcosm. (CBN Microfinance Policy, 2011)

As the microfinance institution and the industry as a whole begins to make waves in Nigeria with over (760MFI's), it becomes apparent that efficiency of these banks measure, identify, regulate, and mitigate against risk becomes an herculean task. Of particular interest is the credit risk management practices of these financial institutions as the core of their clientele are individuals or firms involved with lending funds with little or no asset backed securities. (CBN Microfinance Policy, 2011)

The high level of financial exclusion rate in Nigeria can be attributed to the uneven distribution of microfinance banks with a high number of them being domiciled in areas of high financial transactions and profitability. Additionally, these MFB's carried over the technical inefficiencies, lack of knowledgeable micro-financing skills and paucity of requisite manpower experienced during the era of rural banking. (CBN Microfinance Policy, 2011)

In order to redress these anomalies in the microfinance industry, the Central Bank of Nigeria embarked on a drive of capacity building, information, and sensitization on the pertinent model for Microfinance Institutions in 2007 with a timeline to align with the microfinance policies.

On the back of this, the microfinance policy looked into the enterprise structure and agricultural sector (especially farming and small enterprises) in rural areas as a sure way of alleviating poverty and reducing hunger in Nigeria. (NBS, 2011)

Sandstorm, (2009); Okpukpara, (2010) submitted that the growth of enterprise development is impeded by the lack of access to finance in Nigeria.

Thus, the germane challenges in rural enterprise financing are predicated upon risk in rural businesses, lack of access to credit facilities, inadequate provision for financing opportunities in rural areas. This is so despite the regulation that state governments and commercial banks are mandated to provide at least 1% of their fund top rural businesses for developmental purposes. (CBN, 2011)

The National Bureau of Statistics in Nigeria (2011) investigated the performance of rural businesses and gave the figures to be 20%. (NBS, 2011)

Therefore, the provision of facilities to local area dwellers could be the panacea to the problems of low productivity, poverty, and poor savings culture. (Liu. 2010)

Microfinance Policy Targets in Nigeria

The Microfinance Policy as revised in 2011 seeks the following objectives as panacea to the problems of poverty and lack of access to credit amongst others:

- i. To increase the financial inclusion rate of the poor by 10% annually;
- ii. To up the percentage of microfinance as a total percentage of total credit to the economy at large from 0.9% in 2005 to about 20% by year 2020. From 0.2% to GDP, to about 5% by 2020.
- iii. To reiterate the importance of microfinance participation to states and local government area by 2015.

iv. To increase the rate of financial inclusion of women to financial services by at least 15%.

Risks in Microfinance Institutions

In the use of Microfinance institution, Risk may be defined as act of inhibiting or restricting the occurrence of a possible detrimental position: it involves methodically and in a consistent manner knowing, and monitoring the risks faced by a bank. (Fernando, 2008)

The Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ) (2000) investigated the three major categories of risk, three major categories of risk facing microfinance operations:

- Financial risks including credit, liquidity, and market risks.
- Operational risks including transactional, fraud/ integrity, legal, and compliance risks.
- Strategic risks including governance, reputation, and external business event risks.

The other issues that arose were borrower and lender specific issues, excess lending capacity as created by the high number of financial institutions providing services in the industry. (CSFI, 2012)

The issues around corporate governance are borne out of inadequate or no operational framework for mitigating against risks and managing financial performance. (CSFI, 2012; Mckee, 2012)

Although, the microfinance industry has grown in leaps and bounds as a key developmental tool in alleviating poverty, there are still issues of the risks it carries on a whole that inhibits the potentials to provide capital. (Banerjee & Duflo, 2011)

Risk can be said to be the degree to which an asset (financial asset or investment move away from its normality and the likelihood of that it occurring. The two basic risks associated with the financial services sector are Systematic and Unsystematic risk. (Kannan, N.& N. Thangavel, 2008), Rowe, T. & J. Kim, 2010. Systematic Risks are risks otherwise called market risks, in that they are correlated with the general industry. These risks are not the purview of individual firms and at such they are termed as uncontrollable or unavoidable risks. (Zou, H., M.B. Adams and M.J. Buckle, (2003)

Systematic risks cannot be eliminated by using risk diversification techniques but only be mitigated by risk mitigation tools.

Financial Services firms are exposed to varying degrees of risk with the microfinance institutions being affected mostly by credit risk.

Credit Risk

The act of granting credit facilities or loan advances by financial institutions is a highly technical area, with most firms trying to judge the clients ability to repay the advanced funds and accrued interest. Managers are faced with this highly sensitive task and take their decisions based on variables that may not truly reflect the reality on ground. (Mirzai, Nazarian & Bagheri, 2011).

The world of finance today is faced with the challenges poised by the attendant problems of bankruptcies which are an offshoot of credit risk within financial institutions. To avert such occurrences and mitigate risks properly, the deployment of a functional credit scoring system is of major necessity.

This will determine the creditability of clients in securing loans and their past history of creditworthiness, which serves as a way of determining their risk profile to the banks structure. (Akhbari, MokhatabRafiee, 2011, 80).

Credit risk is the possibility of a client defaulting in the repayment of his credit facilities extended to the clients within any particular timeframe. (Arab Mazar, Rouin Tan, 2006, 47).

Asare-Bekoe, (2010); Yussif, (2003), Cooperman *et al.*, (2000) categorised the risk attached to the banking industry as credit risk, market risk,(which include foreign exchange risk, liquidity risk, and interest rate risk) while operational risk sometimes encapsulate legal risk and strategic risk.

Credit risk in the banking industry is often severely impacted upon by the inadequacies in institutional framework, inefficient credit prudential guidelines, low capital adequacy ratios, state intervention, and regulation needs.. (Sandstorm, 2009; Laker, 2007; Bank Supervision Annual Report, 2006; Kithinji, 2010).

Jin et al., 2012 submitted that measurement of credit risk is the key to unravelling the credit risk situation and that credit rating assessment involves businesses, financials, and management areas.

Credit Risk management must grow for banks and other financial institution to manage and mitigate their loan portfolios which minimizes losses and provide a commensurate return to shareholders. (Focus Group, 2007)

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk often occurs from the inadequacies of the management to foresee and make plans for the different changes in the capital structure of an enterprise cash needs. (GTZ, 2000)

Efficient liquidity management involves managing cash reserves to meet client needs, give out loans while also investing proceeds to maximise value. (GTZ, 2000)

Liquidity Management is a very important component in the determination of the level of sufficient cash levels that MFI's should hold per time.

MFIs must be able to determine the optimal level of retaining cash for immediate needs and the funds needed for investment purposes. This covers the costs of its operations and the costs attached to remain competitive in its industry.

It must also understand how to be liquid enough to forestall cash shortages when clients make withdrawals. Effective liquidity management helps MFI to maintain a sufficient return on investments and stay in business while providing access to credit for the unbanked.
Constantinou and Ashta (2011), Patten *et al.* (2001), Paxton and Young (2011), all supported the notion that effective liquidity management helps MFI to offer saving products.

Market Risk

It includes interest rate risks, foreign currency risks, and investment portfolio risks.

Interest Rate Risk

This occurs from the likelihood that a change in the value of assets and liabilities relative to the changes in interest rates. It is a critical part of treasury variable wherein financial institutions use as a criterion to set maturity schemes and risk profiles of their financial intermediation business.

A mismatch of these assets to liabilities can result in severe banking crises like the 1980 savings and loans crises in the US. (GTZ, 2000)

Foreign Exchange Risk

This refers to the possibility for diminution of capital resulting from the volatilities and fluctuations in the value of various currencies over time.

MFI's are often faced with these volatilities when they mobilize funds in one currency and then lend to clients in another currency. Taking a clue from this, MFI's that mobilize funds in foreign currencies and lend to others in local currency risk loss in value of their portfolio if there is a dip in the local currency or it weakens against the foreign currency. (GTZ, 2000)

Investment Portfolio Risk

In some MFI's, a bulk ratio of the institutions assets are in cash and investments rather than in loans.

The investment base represents the input used for productive financial transaction.

Investment portfolio risks refer to future long term investment decision rather than short term management decision. Therefore, investment portfolio must equate the credit risks for same level of investment, maturity, and timing needs. (GTZ, 2000)

Investment portfolio characteristics must always be to equate the needs of different classes of profile: thus, active strategies must be used to merge aggressive approaches while passive strategies will be a good fit to conservative approach. (GTZ, 2000)

Sharma and Zeller (1997) opined that diversifying activity across sectors and within specific groups would always help forestall against investment portfolio risks and is always a good strategy against investment portfolio risks.

Operational Risk

This occurs as a result of inadequacies in mechanical or human error while delivering financial products or services. It goes beyond all areas of the firm, but revolves around likelihood of inappropriate technology and information systems, operational problems, dearth of employees which result in unexpected losses. (GTZ, 2000)

Transaction Risk

It occurs in all financial products and services. It is defined as that which you encounter very regularly as in all the transactions of MFB's as they are being conducted. It is quite large for MFIs that are involved in high volume of transactions on a daily basis. This occurs because there are a lot of small transactions occurring repeatedly and because of the high dearth of right staff to make the necessary checks on the individuals, there is a high likelihood of error and fraud to occur. (GTZ, 2000)

The main source of operational risk is usually the loan portfolio which is the larger percentage of most MFIs assets. As the MFIs create additional financial; products and services, the level of operational risks increases.

Constantinou and Asha (2011) reiterated the need for a better educated staff and more training to manage the effects of transaction risks in MFI's.

Fraud Risk

Fraud risk has been one of the least addressed risks in the microfinance industry. It includes kickbacks, incorrect financial statements, theft of funds by employees, connivance to commit fraud amongst others.

Fraud can be mitigated if proper internal controls are put in place and all employees are second checked by line managers when involved in large loans or financial transactions. (GTZ, 2000)

Reputation Risks

These include risks affecting earnings or capital by virtue of the bad opinions or negative judgements made by the public. This inhibits MFI's from selling their products and services to the poor; or even has access to more funds. This all important intangible asset must be valued by all because it is much easier to lose than to rebuild. An array of successful MFI's builds their reputation with specific targets and investors as clients, thus strengthening their thoughts with the regulators. (GTZ, 2000)

Credit Scoring

The Basel Framework highlighted credit risk as the risk of default by the borrower. Voelgesang (2003) and Kleimeier and Dinh (2007) submitted that studies related to credit scoring in microfinance have traditionally looked at Latin America and Southern Africa with little evidence from developing nations.

Chieh Hsu & Wen Chi, (2012) posited that credit scoring model or system is an important verifiable tool for measuring risk in the financial industry.

This was further corroborated by (Jalili, KhodaiValahZagherd, Konshouleh, 2009, 127) who said that the proper way of measuring and managing credit risk is through credit scoring.

The recent financial turmoil has further opened the need to assess credit risk (2011, Yu & Yao Lai and Wang, 2011) in risk management with a bias towards repayment of load advances and knowing the different classes of clients (Akhbari & Mokhatab Rafiee, 2010)

Credit rating tools are gradually becoming very popular among banking firms across the world now. (Blanco; Pino-Mejias; Lara & Rayo, 2013).

Chapter 3 Research Methodology

Introduction

This research will look into the design methods of research sampling of the data generated. It will also validate the various tools of collecting empirical data, and also give a general overview of the limitations involved in the data collection process.

Research Design

The main idea and concept around this research study was to investigate and evaluate the impact and effects of risk management practices of banks (microfinance institutions) on economic growth of Nigeria. The researcher was interested in answering the research questions and objectives of the study highlighted in Chapter 1 and given a critical review of its literature in Chapter 2. This will give background knowledge of answering these questions through quantitative approach in its data collection processes.

Sampling Size and Techniques

The above named research will be located in the positivist paradigm as its rests on the research methods used in investigating the impact of risk management practices of microfinance institutions in Nigeria.

The research philosophy will have an influence on the methodology approach for the study. By this, we mean the general approaches and ways by which the research process is structured. It will employ the software Eviews to interpret the parameters. (Ojo, 2008)

The study looked into the availability of getting the top 82 MFB's in Nigeria through the MIX Market website. This sample of MFBs was selected in order to restrict the sampling error to its barest minimum. The data was collected from MIX Market which contains all quantitative and qualitative information and profile description of all self-reporting MFI's. (Gonzales, 2007)

Gonzales (2007) opined that there are several ways by which data variables can be structured in the MIX database.

- 1. All data for MFIs are necessary for producing a minimum set of financial variables. Such that, they can be used to monitor the operations of MFIs
- 2. The self-reporting criterion in the database is very voluntary and not forced upon them, so most MFIs make data available in order to receive funding from donors or organisations. Thus, most MFIs in this category have a better portfolio quality and run profitable ventures.
- 3. The datasets gleaned from MIX Market are definitely a sub set of the entire population of Microfinance institutions.

Research Methodology

The most important area of this study was to look into the efficiency of bank risk management practices using the twin factors of profitability and other bank related metrics.

Therefore, panel data will be used to examine the impact of macroeconomic factors on bank related proxy of capital adequacy ratio in Nigeria.

Panel Data Methodology

The use of the above model follows from similar studies embarked upon by Althunbas et al. (2000) and Ahmad et al. (2009), and Fadzlan and Habibullah (2010) where they all used panel data analysis in their studies on capital position of banks.

Flamini (2009) also factored in growth of bank capital as a dependent regressand relative to the variations in other bank specific variables.

Additionally, Konishi and Yasuda (2004) also used panel data analysis to investigate the riskiness of banks operation in Japan.

Therefore, the study attempt to take cognizance of the fact that the use of panel data for its measurement criteria rests on the fact that the financial state of same entities within an industry could lead to increased correlation and eventually multicollinearity. The use of such results or output could be highly regarded as not valid and untrue or be termed spurious results. (Altunbas et al, 2000) The use of panel data regression is also accounted for and encouraged because of the fact that it has a high level of technical efficiency when such panel data are built. (Baltagi & Griffin, 1988).

It is also very effective as it uses a control variable or proxy helps individual heterogeneity which makes the model coefficients unbiased and an increase in the degrees of freedom.

The panel data methodology is a partnership between cross-sectional and time series analytical phenomenon. It has the uniqueness of pooling time series and cross sectional dimensions of data. It can also influence positively the enhancement of further revealing stationarity and uncorrelated shocks present in a model. (Baltagi 1995)

This is represented in the panel data regression form:

 $Yit = \alpha + \beta Xit + \pi it (\pi it = i + i) \dots Eq(1)$

Where Yit is the regressand factor of its ith component in time series t, Xitis the regressor of its component in time series t. Xit is adjudged exogenous if it is unconnected with the disturbance πit . i is the unobservable individual effect, i is the residual of disturbance; α measures the intercept, and the β is the estimating factor.

Panel data as widely used can take many forms, this include the three main ways of estimation.

- General OLS Regression
- Fixed effect model (FEM)
- Random Effect Model (REM)

Within the Fixed Effect Model, unobservable disturbance terms(i) are generally thought to be fixed estimated coefficients, with stochastic term.(i).

The fixed effect model (FEM) is only considered appropriate when investigating individual effects of *ith* component of factor. Under this set of

assumptions, the β is assumed to be the same for all *ith* components but with different successive slope.

The revised FEM can be rewritten as

 $Y = \alpha 1i + \beta Xit + \pi it \dots Eq(2)$

Fixed Effect Model has a recurring characteristic of focussing on microelement, leaving out other variations within the industry. This neglect can be corrected through the application of the random effect model (REM) otherwise known as the Error component model. (ECM)

The random effect model (REM) is usually more appropriate in various studies because of the random sampling criteria of sourcing for its data. (Baltagi, 1995)

Baltagi (1995) opined that the fixed model would only be more appropriate if the study was investigating particular sample within a population. It would also imply that the use of the model will erode away the degrees of freedom because of the large number of observations.

The Hausman Test will be used to test and strengthen the choice of the best model between Random Effect and fixed effect model under the Null hypothesis with significant differences between the estimators of both model differ substantially.

At 5% significance level,

Ho: Fixed effects model is the most appropriate.

Ha: Random effect model is the most appropriate.

Decision Criteria:

If the Null hypothesis is rejected, then the individual effects are often times probably be correlated with other explanatory variables in the model.

But, if the Null Hypothesis Ho is accepted then it implies that the random effect model (REM) is the best source of appropriate model for the research.

This allows us to accept and confirm the micro effects and explanatory variables are uncorrelated or un-related. Otherwise, it is substantially different from zero.

The Hausman test as revealed by White (1980) will be used to test for the presence of cross sectional heteroscedasticity between the explanatory variables in the model.

Validity and Reliability of Data Collection Process.

In the process of collecting the necessary data, there has been a high level of testing to measure the best variable and the appropriateness of the scores. The concept of validity has been evaluated in seeking the purpose and fit of this study area.

Validity: It reveals the level of content mapping of the research area, requiring both reliability and validity of the measurement areas.

It refers to a way of saying how well an item will do in a given situation in the nearest future.

Hammersley (1987) submitted that a subject or phenomenon is valid or held true if only it describes with great accuracy the characteristics of the investigated research or it emphasizes or aim to portray a theory.

Reliability: It is the level of trustworthiness by which one can measure a variable over time. It is usually indicated of a high score which gives credence to the variables under study and indicates a minimum error variance.

Campbell and Frisk (1987) opined in their treatise on Hammersley (1987) that reliability is the coming together to establish the works of different authors related by the same efforts to achieve the same output.

Generalizability: This implies that the inferences and various conclusions drawn from a sample size from a population sample can be applied to other larger sets of data. This goes to suggests that the results of an investigation can be applied to a general larger inquiry into the same phenomenon. Maxwell (1992) submitted that the level to which a phenomenon is judged to be generalizable is a criterion that gives it the uniqueness on the manner of approach to such research area.

Research Plan

The fundamental objective examines the importance of measuring MFIs risk management practices as shown by the bank – specific indicators (credit risk measured by portfolio at risk for 30days, liquidity risk measured by debt to equity ratio, asset quality measured by return on assets) which also indicate their profitability metric.

The measure of debt to equity ratio as a proxy for liquidity is used primarily from the works of Rajan and Zingales (1995), (Prasit U, Seksak J, Pornsit J, 2011)

Size which is the natural logarithm of the total assets in this study is indicative of the studies done by Jacelly, Maximiliano and Carlos (2010). It implies an inverse relationship between the risks of a financial institution going bankrupt.

Additionally, to the above bank specific indicators or variables, the inclusion of macroeconomic variables of economic growth and inflation rate too will be of added advantage.

All of these variables will be fed into the E-views software to look at the relationships between then and extract behaviours of these variables in relation to examining the effects of risk management of Microfinance Institutions in Nigeria. (See Appendix AAA for calculation of variables)

Using data analysis, the capital adequacy ratio will serve as the dependent variable while other variables will serves as the independent variables for analytical purposes. (See Appendix AAA for calculation of variables)

The basic reason for setting up a risk management department for banks and much especially microfinance institutions is to forestall occurrence of insolvency. This has generated and necessitated the need for an effective risk management guideline for mitigating against insolvency risks in such microfinance institutions.

Saunders and Cornett (2006) opined that insolvency starts as a result of existence of prolonged liquidity challenges and severe capital depletion. That is, insolvency occurs as a result of either illiquidity or capital inadequacy.

Illiquidity results in bankruptcy where a firm cannot meet its short term obligations and therefore, the assets are traded below the market price to settle its liabilities.

Saunders and Cornett (2006) were credited with speaking about insolvency occurring from capital inadequacy as the capital available to financial institutions fall below the prudential minimum level. This, also imply that the assets and liabilities are no longer congruent.

Research Strategy

Description of Capital Adequacy Ratio as a variable for Risk Management

The Basel III requirement for risk measurement states that capital adequacy is a key element used by market regulators to measure the impact of managing risks in the financial sector.

Capital Adequacy examines the level of banks strength in terms of capital relative to its risks portfolio, and other risks. (Hitchins et al., 2001)

Bikker and Hu (2002) submitted in their studies that bank efficiency is determined and greatly influenced by the volatilities in macroeconomic situation in spite of the changes in the industry, using the highly sophisticated financial mathematics models to account for risk that is accompanied by economic cyclicality.

Business Cycles are a representative of periods of times of economic boom and gloom in varying length and time duration. Usually, most financial institutions during periods of sustained economic boom and growth will shore up their capital by ploughing back profits and heavy involvement in capital markets. Bikker and Hu (2002) In other period of recession or not too good economic activities, they keep funds and not release it due to the high cost of capital.

Sathye et al., (2003) opined that the challenges of continued credit defaults severely affect the financial sustainability of most financial institutions.

Altunbas et al., (2000) reiterated that a banks attempt at following through on observing the prudential guidelines is very important and germane. It is further necessary for its capital-risk ratio to be adhered to strictly under the Basel committee recommendations.

Therefore, the capital adequacy ratio as managed by regulators in the financial institutions is structured to restrict the financial institutions risks exposures to its capital outlay.

Description of Dependent and Independent Variables in Model Specification

This study will make use of a panel data and regression model to study the interaction between risk management practices and economic growth of the country. It specifically tries to measure the impact of its capital adequacy in times of crises or shortfall in its core business.

Dependent Variable

The use of capital adequacy as a dependent variable stems from previous empirical studies done by Kwan and Eisenbeis (1997), Berger and Young (1997), Hitchins et al. (2001), Ojo (2008), and Ahmad et al. (2009).

Chie et al (2009) submitted that there is a relationship between risk efficiency and bankruptcy, with capital adequacy ratio being used as the variable for measuring risk management efficiency.

The regressand or dependent variable (capital adequacy) is itself defined as the combination of both micro and macro items. The micro items are the bank specific variables which are influenced by the financial institutions policy. (See Appendix AAA for calculation of variables) The weight of risky assets in the financial institutions portfolio, size of total assets, and the board of directors serve as an indicator of management's quality.

Other macro items which also influence capital adequacy include interest rate element, economic growth and inflation rate which are outside the purview of bank specific indicators but are very much aligned and influence the risk identification and management. (See appendix AAA for calculation of variables)

Bank-Related Proxies

The bank-specific indicators are the variables used to regress the relationship or behaviour of risk management practices of microfinance institutions. They are very important tool in modelling the impact of capital -total asset ratio of these microfinance institutions. Thus they represent the counter party risk exposure of microfinance institutions. (See Appendix AAA for calculation of variables)

The probability of defaulting in a financial transaction with financial institutions raises the credit risk of that organisation. Thus, one can also include profitability of these financial institutions as reiterated by Rivard and Thomas (1997) saying return on assets (ROA) measures the operating efficiency.



Source: Risk Management Framework as depicted by Awojobi .O., et al. 2011

Figure 1 above gives a structure of a bank's risk management profile with which efficiency can be a source of input and influenced by both broad wide parameters and firm specific factors.

Macroeconomic Determinants

There are various interpretations of economic phenomena as they occur in the business environment. One of such is periods of contraction wherein the likelihood of clients defaulting on their loan advances increases with the problems of lack of access to capital at a lower cost.

Inadvertently, this affects financial institutions by threatening their very existence except there is a positive performance to their assets in lieu of their capital items in the organisation.

The empirical investigation study embarked upon by Demirguc-Kunt and Huizinga (1998) and Bikker and Hu (2002) gave background knowledge into the issues around bank efficiency such that the volatilities in the business environment is very sensitive in spite of reassurances of the workings and methodologies of quantitative finance.

Neely and Wheelock (1997) submitted that the business cycles of banking environment is such that it moves in tandem with GDP per capita. This also implies that economic growth rate can be used as an indicator for business cyclicality.

Demirguc-Kunt and Huizinga (1999); and Sufian and Habibullah (2010) opined that there is a relationship between inflation rate and banking activities.

Econometric Specification

The use of quantitative method cannot be over emphasized in this research because the challenges around finance in the modern world as construed today is centred around the problems created by ineffective risk management practices.

The regression model is as follows:

CARit = f (CRiskit, LQRit, ROAit, SIZEit, OPrit, OPexPLon ECO, INFdm)

This is represented in the equation as

CARit = α + β 1*CRiskit + β 2*LQRit + β 3*ROA+ β 4*SIZEit + β 5*OPrit

+ β 6*OPexPLonit 1*ECOgr + 2*INFdm + eit (Eit = vit + ui).....Eq3

Where,

i' is a notion for individual microfinance banking institution,

t' describes the time period,

Eit is the disturbance term.

The splitting of Eit is necessary so as to be able to capture the error from unobservable bank specific variables not specified in the model.

These variables are represented by (vit), while uit is the variable for robust standard error.

 α is the intercept, β are estimates for the various estimated values.

Chapter 4 Data Analysis and Interpretation of Results

Introduction

In this section, the study will attempt to link the objectives of the research with relevant theory through the testing of the various hypothesis mentioned in Chapter one. It will try to establish through quantitative means, the research questions, and its connections with the theoretical background and explain the risk management practices of microfinance institutions using various data and variables.

Data Collection and Process

The sample size was obtained from the Microfinance Information Exchange (MIX) database, which contains a brief outlook and quantitative information of MFIs all over the world.

The process of collecting data started with looking at the MFIs from Nigeria with self-reporting status of their annual accounts from 2003 – 2012. Thus, we have 80 as our sample size out of the MFI's listed on the Central Bank of Nigeria.

These MFIs are then filtered to reveal those with at least 4 diamonds (the level of reporting and financial sustainability). The final sample is located in various states and regions around Nigeria and accounts also for over US\$378.7m in loan portfolio, 1.8m active borrowers with US\$252.8m deposits and 2.4m depositors. (See Appendix 1)

Gonzales (2007) posited that there are various selection challenges associated with the use of MIX market data as most of these MFIs are selfreporting and have just a few sets of financial variables monitoring their operational efficiencies.

Processes in data collection:

- Collate all data from Mix market website

- Filter according to country and years starting with 2003 and ending with 2012 being the most recent year of collecting data
- Select 80 Microfinance banks as the sample size of the microfinance banks for the 10 years.
- Run a Panel Data Regression to reveal the relationship between the FEM, REM and Pooled Regression.
- Analyse the result based on the various test done in Panel Data Regression.

Empirical Analysis

Panel Results

Panel data econometrics was employed to investigate the approached of risk management efficiency in Microfinance Banks in Nigeria.

Kennedy (1998) submitted that the estimation of panel data regression helps to control for individual uniqueness or heterogeneity, lowers the general level of bias, and therefore improves the efficiency and reliability of the entire model. This happens by way of more variability in data used and reduction in collinearity.

Therefore, the specified regression model in Equation (3) will be structured in three ways:

Panel OLS

Fixed Effect Model

Random Effect Model

Descriptive Statistics

Table 1 below gives a descriptive statistics of panel; data variables for the sample size. The main rationale behind these statistics is to investigate the level of divergence or imbalances of the cross -sectional variants.

It depicts that a minimum value of 0.0000001 to be accounted for by PAR coefficient and a maximum of 0.965400 for the Industry, with 0.066788 being accounted for as the mean value.

The Skewness of the distribution measures the symmetry or lack of symmetry in the distribution set. This implies from the table that there is presence of positive skewness as most of the data are positive and such the tails goes right.

The Kurtosis indicates that the following variables (CAR, INF, ECG) all showing a value closer to 3 which is the standard.

The wide distortion in the distribution gives an evidence of the likely randomness of the cross-sectional variables where there was a mix of community banks and regional microfinance banks in the sample size.

[See Appendix 3 - Descriptive Statistics]

Estimates for Panel Regression Model

This section will attempt to explain the regression result from the output generated by E-views 6.0 Software. There are three patterns of this model:

Panel Ordinary least Square Model estimates

Fixed Effect Model estimates

Random Effect Model estimates.

Trying to reduce the issues around poor estimation criterion, the appropriate model would be adopted and critic ally analysed. The Hausman test for correlated random effects is used to investigate and determine the most appropriate model for the sample size. [See Appendix 4 – Hausman Test for result].

It tries to confirm the variance in each estimate of both random and fixed effect model are significant to influence the variables towards biasedness.

Decision Criteria implies that if the test is statistically significant, then there is a plausibility of unobserved individual heterogeneity being uncorrelated to the regressand, it implies that the micro-unit effects and regressors are uncorrelated. Thus the random effect model parameter is the most appropriate.

Independent	Panel regression	Fixed Effects	Random Effects
Variables			
PAR	0.03811**	0.107442***	0.07563 ***
	(0.4039)	(1.06031)	(0.78903)
ROA	0.004962**	0.098488***	0.03963**
	(0.1375)	(1.08242)	(0.4627)
SIZE	0.014083**	0.00871**	0.01238**
	(1.51003)	(0.90566)	(1.22045)
LQTY	0.0661***	0.120922	0.09598***
	(1.4666)	(2.68598)	(2.21059)
OPR	0.04326**	0.008628**	0.026342**
	(1.7010)	(0.30372)	(1.0077)
OPEXPLON	0.023717**	0.02032**	0.021903**
	(1.4668)	(1.15976)	(1.33610)
INF	0.00346**		0.00344**
	(3.08473)		(2.080118)
ECO	0.04326**		2.0702
	(1.7010)		(2.13925)
Constant	0.40784	0.06764	4.858842
F statistics	1.4736	2.8747	2.4616
R square	0.7376	0.8552	0.8661
Prob (F-Stat)	0.22577	0.0000001	0.012287
Durbin Watson	1.6268	2.068	1.5958

Table	1 -	Parameter	Estimates	on	Panel	Data	Regression
Tubic	•	rurumeter	Estimates	011	runci	Dutu	Regression

The outputs as revealed by the values in parenthesis are real figures of the t statistics with * implying the significance level at 1%, 5%, 10% rejection of the Null hypothesis. The panel Data was run on E-views. See Appendix 5A, 5B and 5C for output of regression of Panel, FEM and REM

Furthermore, there was the need to make modification to ascertain that the variance in disturbance terms is aligned over time.

Accordingly, Baltigi (1995) submitted that the OLS model might become inefficient when there is evidence of Heteroscedasticity. Therefore, we go ahead to use a general least squares (GLS) to estimate the error variance, with a plausibility of imbalances in the model.

Capital adequacy ratio is a necessity and prerequisite for risk mitigation and evaluation in the Basel III document, and it is a ratio between bank capital and total asset to stand as a parameter for risk profiling of a bank. (BIS 2011)

A'Priori Expectations and Statistical Significance

This section will attempt to investigate the impact and confirmation of the parameter estimates confirming the economic theories. Thus, the researcher attempts to see the differentials that exist between variables and the deviations that occur away from the acceptable levels.

Thus a priori expectation which conforms to economic theory states that capital adequacy ratio and credit risk must be positive.

Results in Table 1 reveal and confirms the a priori expectation that exist between credit risk and capital adequacy ratio wherein the value was (0.4039). The standardised t-statistics also reveals that the parametric estimate is statistically significant at the 0.05 level.

A comparative analysis between the random effect and fixed effect reveals that the same situation holds for the random effect model as the parameter estimate is positive at (0.78903) and statistically significant at the 0.10 level. The fixed effect though confirms with the economic theory with a positive value of (1.06031) that states that as credit risk increases so also do the capital adequacy of bank should be increased. It is also statistically significant at the 0.10 level just like the random effect.

This also goes to look at the rate of efficiency of controlling the risk profile of the microfinance banks in Nigeria can only be successful with introduction of more capital in the bank's loan portfolio.

In the liquidity of microfinance banks, it is also a very important area that the banks must always align their current assets with their current liabilities in order to be deemed to be liquid enough to meet all its obligations as at when due.

Thus a microfinance bank with a low level of liquidity is more susceptible to adverse terms when the operational efficiency is at a minimum either through accidental occurrence or otherwise. This puts it at risk of not being able to fulfil its obligations to her customers.

When this happens, a microfinance bank may resort to parting with some of its assets or reduce its capital level to meet such obligations in that period. A low level of liquidity will impact on the capital adequacy ratio negatively and from the results gleaned from the panel regression.

The Results in Table 1 reveal and confirms the a priori expectation that exist between liquidity risk and capital adequacy ratio wherein the value was (1.4666) for the general panel regression while the standardised t-statistics reveals that the parametric estimate is statistically significant at the 0.10 level.

It also confirms the a priori expectation that exist between liquidity risk and capital adequacy ratio as the value was (2.6859) for the fixed model regression while the standardised t-statistics reveals that the parametric estimate is not statistically significant at any of the 0.01,0.05 and 0.10 level. The Random model also exhibits the same characteristics as the findings in the fixed model where it confirms the a priori expectation that exist between liquidity risk and capital adequacy ratio with a value of (2.21059) and also statistically significant at the 0.10 level as evidenced by the standardised tstatistics.

The output from the panel regression relative to the return on assets is a very important variable. This is so because the ROA is employed to reveal banks profitability which measures the risk efficiency of banks.

Saunders and Wilson (2001) noted that there exists a nexus between bank capital ratio and its charter value with the profitability measurement as a valid criterion for its future prospect.

It means that a microfinance bank with positive returns on asset and stability of its management policies is well position for future expansion in its operations with a good source of capital base.

Bodie et al. (2008) opined that the earning power and payout policy of a firm is sometimes influenced by managers attempting to enhance the returns to the investors (dividend payment) by smoothing this variable over successive periods. This happens when the firm has increased in its earnings, managers often decide to plowback some of these in order to increase its capital buffer.

This invariably by way of a priori expectations confirms that there exist a positive relationship between return on assets as a measure of profitability (ROA) and capital adequacy ratio of microfinance banks.

From the panel regression results in Table 1, there exists a positive result of the influence of ROA on CAR which confirms the a priori theoretical expectations and findings of Cebenoyan *et al.* (1999), Saunders and Wilson (2001).

Thus, results in Table 1 confirm the a priori expectation that exist between return on assets (ROA) and capital adequacy ratio wherein the value was (0.1375). The standardised t-statistics also reveals that the parametric estimate is statistically significant at the 0.05 level.

A comparative analysis between the random effect and fixed effect reveals that the same situation holds for the random effect model as the parameter estimate is positive at (0.03963) and statistically significant at the 0.05 level.

The fixed effect although also confirm with the economic theory with a positive value of (1.08242) that states that as return on assets (ROA) increases so also do the capital adequacy of bank be increased. It is also statistically significant at the 0.10 level.

The next variable to be evaluated in the regression is Size which is the employed as a proxy for measuring the risk management efficiency of banks, especially in this context, microfinance banks.

The panel regression results in Table 1, shows that there exists a positive result of the influence of size as a determinant of risk efficiency of banks. It confirms and the a priori theoretical expectation that as bank size increases so also do their ability to effectively manage risk is also increased.

Thus, results in Table 1 confirm the a priori expectation that exist between bank size and risk management efficiency with a value (1.51003). The standardised t-statistics also reveals that the parametric estimate is statistically significant at the 0.10 level.

A comparative analysis between the random effect and fixed effect reveals that the same situation holds for the random effect model as the parameter estimate is positive at (1.22045) and statistically significant at the 0.05 level. The fixed effect also confirms with the economic theory with a positive value of (0.90566) that states that bank size increases so also do the bank's ability to effectively manage risk increases. It is also statistically significant at the 0.05level.

In terms of operational efficiencies, a bank's ability to manage efficiently its operations serves as an additional buffer to its capital position. It is calculated as the net operating income divided by the operating expenses. We assume that as efficiencies increases in the operations of microfinance banks, the management are equipped to increase profitability and add value to the capital position. Awojobi. O., et al (2011)

Thus, it goes on economic theory that as operational risk increases so thus the capital adequacy ratio required by banks must also increase.

The Results in Table 1 reveal and confirms the a priori expectation that exist between operational efficiencies and capital adequacy ratio wherein the value was (1.7010) for the general panel regression while the standardised tstatistics reveals that the parametric estimate is statistically significant at the 0.05 level.

This is also confirmed for the fixed effect model as the a priori expectation on the relationship between operational efficiencies and capital adequacy ratio revealed a positive value of (0.30372) while the standardised t-statistics reveals that the parametric estimate is statistically significant at any of the 0.01 and 0.05level.

The Random model also exhibits the same characteristics as the findings in the fixed model where it confirms the a priori expectation that exist between operational efficiencies and capital adequacy ratio with a value of (1.0077) and also statistically significant at the 0.05 and 0.10 level as evidenced by the standardised t-statistics. In terms of asset quality, a bank's ability to increase its assets and retain qualitative assets cannot be overemphasized as this increases its capital level.

Thus, it goes on economic theory that as asset quality increases so thus the capital level required by banks must also increase.

The Results in Table 1 reveal and confirms the a priori expectation that exist between asset quality and capital level wherein the value was (1.4668) for the general panel regression while the standardised t-statistics reveals that the parametric estimate is statistically significant at the 0.05 level.

This is also confirmed for the fixed effect model as the a priori expectation on the relationship between asset quality and capital level revealed a positive value of (1.15976) while the standardised t-statistics reveals that the parametric estimate is statistically significant at the 0.05level.

The Random model also exhibits the same characteristics as the findings in the fixed model where it confirms the a priori expectation that exist between asset quality and capital level with a value of (1.33610) and also statistically significant at the 0.05 level as evidenced by the standardised t-statistics.

Additionally, the results in Table 1 reveal and confirm the a priori expectation that exist between loan portfolio and capital adequacy ratio wherein the value was (1.4668) in the general panel regression. The standardised t-statistics also reveals that the parametric estimate is statistically significant at the 0.05 level.

A comparative analysis between the random effect and fixed effect reveals that the same situation holds for the random effect model as the parameter estimate is positive at (1.33610) and statistically significant at the 0.05 level.

The fixed effect also confirms with the economic theory with a positive value of (1.15976) that states that as loan portfolio increases so also do the capital

adequacy of bank should be increased. It is also statistically significant at the 0.10 level just like the random effect.

This also goes to look at the rate of efficiency of controlling the risk profile of the microfinance banks in Nigeria can only be successful with introduction of more capital in the bank's loan portfolio.

Therefore, the influences of risk management as determined by the macroeconomic proxies of economic growth and inflation will attempt to investigate the impact on a macro level.

Result in Table 3 reveals that economic growth as a determining representative of business cycle predict a positive relationship of (1.7010) and also statistically significant at 0.05 level.

This is also the same thing as it relates to the random effects model as it also returns a positive value of (2.0801) at the 0.05 level. This is indicative of the fact that the banking environment in Nigeria is pro-cyclical to economic volatilities. Awojobi O., et al (2011)

In times of productive and profitable periods, microfinance banks have access to more capital by way of demand for more business ventures by entrepreneurs. While, during periods of economic crises, there is a contraction, it is a direct opposite of supply of capital. This occurs as debtors are prone to defaulting and a high cost is leveraged on credit facilities.

On the other hand, inflation shows a positive relationship on the random effect model as it has the ability to influence the availability of credit rates as most microfinance source for funds in parity with the interest rate.

In Nigeria, the high rate of inflation has negatively affected the business community in terms of the entrepreneurial population. It has stifled business growth as the country employs floating interest rate and exchange rate. The random effect model although have a positive value for its parametric estimates but in real terms the estimates itself is not statistically significant.

Conclusively, the model reports 86.61 percentages in its R squared and also a statistically significant figure of 0.012287 at the 0.05 level.

Test of Robustness

The model will be examined by further analysis into the sufficiency of the model. This will be done through the coefficient of F statistics, D-W test for autocorrelation and covariance analysis through multicollinearity.

Baltagi (1995) opined that in order to test for the presence of autocorrelation among variables, the number of variables must be less than the number of cross sections.

The D-W output reveals that there is absence of first order autocorrelation in the model and the error terms are uncorrelated. The F-statistics value of 0.012287 states additionally gives credence to the model as it is statistically significant at the 0.05level.

The R² value of 0.8661 on the random effect model side implies that 86.61 percent variation in capital adequacy ratio is explained by the variables of portfolio at risk, bank size, liquidity risk, operational risk, asset quality, management quality, and business cyclicality.

More Discussions and Findings

Therefore with the main discussions of the research findings discussed in details. The study was able to unravel the nature of the risk factors that may be associated with the microfinance banks in Nigeria.

The next section will attempt to corroborate the various influences centred on the impact of inefficient risk management practices as it relates to the study.

Distribution of Microfinance banks in Nigeria.

The study found out that a high concentration of microfinance banks are situated in urban centres and the level of depth and outreach to the unbanked in the rural area continue to reduce.

The main objective of microfinance is to act as a platform to make banking services available to everyone irrespective of status but most microfinance banks consider this not a priority as they are mostly situated in the urban areas like Lagos with a total population of 9,113,605 has about 151 microfinance banks. See Appendix 6

These microfinance banks have to contend with the commercial banks for deposits and clienteles which are quite difficult to manage in such a large city. Hence, this can only increase the risk profile of these microfinance banks as they won't be able to challenge for the deposits they seek. This will indicate that they may fail in their financial intermediation objective.

This same situation goes for Anambra with a population of 4,177,828 with 68 microfinance banks. This will generally indicate that the level of entrepreneurial activities in this region of the country may account for its large number of microfinance banks. It may also be appropriate to note that with this high number of microfinance banks comes the huge responsibility in terms of risk management of their business units and access to credit facilities.

Additionally, Abuja comes third in the ranking of microfinance banks with its 45 number of microfinance banks in Nigeria, partly because it is the capital and many of the similar banks will have their branch networks spread across this city. This is to give a national outlook to these microfinance banks which then raises its risk profile if not managed properly.

The next in line is the number of microfinance banks in Oyo with 42 being registered as the figure. This implies that in almost all of the state capitals is a huge chunk of the microfinance banks. It literally mean that these microfinance banks prefer to establish their banks in the urban areas where there seem to be a flush of capital to fight for and neglecting the unbanked in areas with no seemingly big industries or businesses.

This seems to have a debilitating effect on the main objective as to the establishment of microfinance banks, as they are established to serve uncharted territories or rural areas where the access to financial services is at an abysmal low.

Also, the ranking of microfinance in terms of the number of branches and banks in an area may not do justice as to the risk management of these microfinance banks. But, it has been proven in the research and other empirical studies that bank size itself makes a big criteria of its ability to withstand shocks and provide capital buffer in times or periods of need.

This is evidenced by the continued pronouncements by the regulator agency in Nigeria (CBN) to recapitalise the microfinance banks and place them in various categories like the regional, state and local wide to serve the unbanked in the inner-most areas of these places.

This also happens to be the same story as it revolves around these states, as Ogun with a population of 3,751,140 and 40 microfinance banks faces the same uphill task of trying to ditch the microfinance objective and mobilize deposits necessary for business purposes.

The same fate befell the last two states of Imo and Osun with 3,927,563 and 3,416,959 respectively. They do have the figures in terms of population but the outreach levels in these states have been traditionally low as the cost of making bespoke arrangement to facilitate credit provision to the most deficit units has often been met with resistance because of the lack of trust among the indigenous residents.

No.	State	Population	No of MFB's
1	Lagos	9,113,605	151
2	Anambra	4,117,828	68
3	Abuja	1,406,239	45
4	Оуо	5,580894	42
5	Ogun	3,751,140	40
6	Imo	3,927,567	28
7	Osun	3,416,959	26

Table 3 : List of Microfinance Banks in Nigeria

Gross Loan Portfolio Distribution of Microfinance Banks

As this was one of the independent variables used to measure the impact of risk efficiency in microfinance banks, it became imperative to see the trend of events as it relates to this proxy. From the Appendix, one will see the impact of pre financial crises being felt by the microfinance banks with all of the assets under the gross loan portfolio within the US\$0.5m but shortly after the banking crises and recovery started to return back to the market, Microfinance banks with Access MFB leading the pack started to increase its loan portfolio and provide more credit facilities to clients as it should. This saw a rise from less than US1m in pre crises period to about US\$30m within three years post banking crises.

The Risk Management Practices of Microfinance Institutions in Nigeria 1248775



Number of Active Borrowers

The number of active borrowers within the pre banking crises was at a minimum figure of less than ten thousand but as the economy started to show signs of recovery and spurts of economic growth, the number started to increase and got to about twice the size of that in about three years. There was a new level of number of borrowers which exceeded the twenty thousand mark in 2012.



Deposits

The level of deposit mobilization by microfinance banks in Nigeria is very interesting and an eye opening phenomenon. There were cases of ups and downs in the mobilisation of deposits in the banking crises period. However, all of this changed for the better as the economy showed signs of improvement in early 2009 with deposits shooting as high as US\$4.0m from a low of less than US\$1m



Assets

The growth of assets of microfinance banks also dipped and was indeed flat from 2004 to 2008. However, sometimes in 2009 it started rising and going further into higher levels of almost reaching US\$25m from a low value of about US\$5m

The Risk Management Practices of Microfinance Institutions in Nigeria 1248775



Capital - Assets Ratio

This ratio is otherwise known as the capital adequacy ratio and it tries to measure the impact of capital position of microfinance banks as a buffer in terms of economic shocks or crises. It was used as a proxy for measuring how risk reliant the microfinance banks were in the face of another economic crises or financial tsunami and it has been increased by the regulators from time to time just as to forestall and collapse of the banking industry.

From the chart, one will see interesting features of this variable as it mirrors an image of 1:1 in the chart and shows that the asset and capital adequacy of these microfinance banks could take up any economic shocks in the society.



Table 4 - Hausman Test for Model Appropriateness

Test Summary		Chi Sq. Stats	Chi sq. d.f	Prob.
Cross Section Random		9.920214	6	0.1281
Variable	Fixed	Random	Var (Diff)	Prob.
С	0.275139	0.067644	0.000187	0.00001
PAR	0.107442	0.075168	0.075168	0.3500
ROA	0.09848	0.039631	0.039631	0.0453
LQTY	0.120922	0.09598	0.09598	0.0359
SIZE	0.008717	0.11238	0.11238	0.03680
OPEXPLON	0.02032	0.021903	0.021903	0.7980
OPR	0.008628	0.026342	0.026342	0.01114

Accordingly, the output from the model relative to the Hausman Test (Chi Sq. Statistics) failed to reject the null hypothesis that unobserved firm specific heterogeneity are not correlated with the regressors and this has led the researcher to concentrate on interpreting the estimates provided by the random effect model.

Chapter 5

Summary and Conclusion

One of the core reasons behind embarking on an investigative study of the subject area was to try and see the core influences or determinants of risk management practices in Microfinance Banks in Nigeria. The study looked into long run equilibrium between various financial ratios with explanatory coefficients, and macroeconomic variables.

Considering our research, the panel data was employed to look into both bank and economic factors.

A major crucial and fundamental criteria or rationale behind this research was to investigate the key influences around risk management practices for microfinance banks in Nigeria. This was ascertained through the use of various financial ratios and proxies with various coefficients and macroeconomic variables. The use of the capital adequacy ratio has the dependent variable was gleaned from previous studies where it measured risk management efficiency.

Panel regression method was employed to investigate empirically the bank specific and macro-wide variables. The findings indicate that economic growth which is a measurement of cyclicality had a positive relationship on risk management efficiency among microfinance banks in Nigeria; inflation had a negative relationship with capital adequacy ratio of banks which was in accordance with the a priori expectation and economic theory.

The study therefore confirms that the risk management efficiency among Nigerian microfinance banks has not been efficient. The Basel II rules and requirements was enacted to shore up the capital requirements of banks in order to act as buffer in cases of shocks and imbalances.

Additionally, the study was also able to confirm that capital position in microfinance banks was positively associated with liquidity, credit risk, management quality, asset quality, bank size and operational efficiency. Though when considering the panel analysis in terms of the fixed effects, the macroeconomic variables became redundant and were not recorded as parameter estimates.

Therefore, microfinance banks are by implication also termed efficient in managing their loan portfolio according to the available evidence of sustained capital buffer especially in the not too recent recapitalization and categorization of banks into regional and national banks.

Usually, risk measurement and performance in the banking domain in Nigeria is floored with pro-cyclicality and the studies also went to confirm this though this is on sharp contrast to the submission of Francis and Osborne (2009) where they opined in their study of UK banks that risk capital ratios are counter-cyclical.

Economic Growth is a very important tool in the determinant of stability within the banking industry and even at the macro level in direct contrast to inflation levels in Nigeria.

The whole gamut of risk management in banking is to implement the objectives and aims of Basel framework on risk management.

There remain empirical studies that include Francis and Osborne (2009), Borio and Drehmann (2009), and Clement (2010) and Awojobi et al. that has confirmed the findings of this study on risk management in banks.

Therefore, Saurina (2009) suggested employing the use of cycle inputs rather than risk methods. With additional, risk processes can be reduced if the regulators often times examine the capital position of microfinance banks at unscheduled times in order to avert banks crises.
Chapter 6 Recommendations

Policy Recommendations: A Brief Outlook

This study has been so interesting and very important to the structure and restructuring of a more viable and profitable MFB's in Nigeria that we cannot afford not to make recommendations in the light of the startling revelations. A more dynamic and rejuvenated microfinance banks can only be achieved through the set up of an efficient risk management department with cross links over other financial institutions.

This section will look at giving various recommendations to Industry practitioners, regulators, or policy maker and all other concerned stakeholders within the Microfinance Industry.

Conceptually, within the several empirical studies as noted within microfinance literature, this study aimed to investigate through hypothesis testing and contribute to existing literature and policy direction in the risk management and efficiency.

Recommendation to Industry Practitioners

The risk management practices of microfinance banks in Nigeria cannot just be from risk identification, risk evaluation, and risk management only. The will to make them sustainable and alive to their responsibilities must be presented in a more structured manner by the regulators.

The management of these microfinance banks must then set up an effective risk management department with evaluations on a regular basis of their portfolio to check for the various risks that may negatively impact on their capital adequacy or ability to grant credit facilities.

Firstly, this research study has also been able to look into the spread of the Microfinance banks in Nigeria as most of these are located in urban areas. This type of regional location should be discouraged since it puts them in direct competition with established and stronger commercial banks. They are most needed in the rural areas and communities where the outreach and depth will be more useful and relevant.

Recommendations to Regulators and Policy Makers Policy Implications

This section will give a brief identification of areas that need to be improved on from the perspectives of policy makers and regulators.

Firstly, we recommended that there should be a constant, intended, and purposeful alignment or arrangement of all microfinance programmes and schemes. This will bring an order and structure to the evaluation process for the risk management objectives for the Industry at large.

Thus microfinance supporters or financiers are then known and visible to the regulators which helps to know the sources of funding for these organisations for risk management purposes.

The management of Microfinance banks in Nigeria can also form alliances with each other and regulators alike to project a formidable force in proffering solutions to the poverty debacle in Nigeria through a concerted effort in risk management. This is a major objective and aim of setting up a microfinance bank.

Secondly, on the basis of developing an adequate risk management regulation; loan pricing and disbursements has to be premised on the target market. This means that, regulators must also be interested in the client not just looking and giving broad overviews to market operators. Thus, the ability to identify recurrent defaulting creditors in various regions or areas within Nigeria will flag off on their monitoring systems thereby preventing systemic risks in the Industry.

Additionally, this implies that there must be increased alertness on the part of the regulators to partner with the classical client differentiation models which integrates the client's economic status to the communities or areas in which their businesses are established.

In other words, there must be an alignment of the customer's financial abilities and capabilities to the credit facilities they may require at each successive period. The period in which microfinance banks were allowed to do as they pleased wherein they gave out credit facilities without appropriate checks and balances on the recipients is no longer acceptable.

This will facilitate the achievement of credence by microfinance banks knowing fully well that the clients have been served according to their specific needs and business activity.

Thirdly, the regulators must create an enabling environment which is necessary to stimulate growth and development of the financial sectors should be a core platform on which Microfinance banks can build upon. This factor cannot be overemphasized as we propose an avenue in which development partners or government at various levels can address issues of bureaucracies in public sectors and granting of banking licenses to multiple microfinance banks without the right infrastructure for risk management.

Lastly, we recommend that Microfinance banks through the influence of continued regulation by the regulators must be asked to publish their efficiency indicators which includes but not limited to social and financial indicators only. The philosophy and motivation behind this is that, it will help customers and financial supporters or investors to identify efficient microfinance banks and raise the level of professionalism within the microfinance industry.

This is further hinged on the belief that categorizing efficiency based on financial and social indicators gives the customers an enhanced view on the risk profile, leverage, and competitive advantage that exist within successive microfinance banks.

Further Considerations and Research

This research work has been able to take various positive comments from the assigned supervisor and attempted to include these into the whole thesis but

for the restrictions in terms of time and resources, the researcher has not been able to include all of these reviews.

Firstly, the dataset used to examine the relationship between all the measures of risk management and the influences in Microfinance banks might take the form of a non-linear relationship and more variables may be included to establish all other types of risks in financial systems.

Additionally, the issue of Panel data analysis for this regression in terms of cross-sectional and time series analysis can be looked upon from various methodologies. We can assume that a regional analysis may bring in more robust results necessary for comparison purposes.

Lastly, the policy influences may be looked upon in terms of risk analysis, and management of microfinance banks with an outlook on national level in comparison to other regions. Thus, this establishes a template, trend, or growth indicator for the microfinance industry at large. Appendix AAA - Calculation of Variables

Variable	Variable A'priori		Measurement		
CAR		This acts as a measure of the banks capability to buffer against	Regulatory Capital divided by Total Risk Weighted Asset		
Independent Proxies:		solvency risks			
<u>Bank-related</u> CRisk	(+)	Credit risk measures banks' exposure to counterparty risk	Loan/Total asset		
LQRisk	(+)	This is a measure of insolvency in a bank when the firm can provide its short term obligations	Liquidity ratio: As measured by debt to equity ratio		
ROA	(+/_)	Return on total assets measures how profitability Banks	Net income divided by total asset		
SIZE	(+/_)	It reflects the profitability of financial institutions.	Natural logarithm of total asset		
<u>Macroeconomic</u> ECOgr	(+)	Economic growth rate is proxy for	From The World Bank		

The Risk Management Practices of Microfinance Institutions in Nigeria 1248775

		cyclicality	
INFdom	(+/_)	Domestic rate of inflation	From The World Bank

Source: Awojobi O., Amel R., and Norouzi S., (2011)

Appendix 1- Nigeria Market Profile

Nigeria Mar	ket Pro	ofile				Choose Another Country		
Overview	Organizal	tions I	lews					
MFI's - most recent data	Report Date	378.7m Loans (USD)	1.8m Borrowers	252.8m Deposits (USD)	2.4m Depositors	Download and Analyze Data for Nigeria		
AB HI/B	2012	29,947,205	21,825	3,281,005	44,336			
Accion MfB Nigeria	2012	12,124,656	14,426	3,479,411	95,128	10 C		
Ajute MFB	2011	1,172,176	2,364	120,086	513	2 24		
Alliance MFB	2008	817,749	714	481,277	4,067	the first second		
Apex MFB	2011	696,800	267	558,977	-	and the second sec		
Ascend Nigeria	2007	449,350	7,800	-	7,200	E PLATEAU		
Awe MFB	2011	69,020	100	111,613	-			
Azsa MFB	2009	222,943	268	271,344	4,038	('''' -		
Babura MFB	2012	905,247	1,825	480,509	6,094			
Balogun Fulani MFB	2011	1,172,176	2,364		-	View the Nigeria Map of		
CGEE	2009	9,804,776	51,129	2,417,076	\$7,064	Financial Inclusion		
Chikum MFB	2010	562	371	1,855	2,992			
COWAN	2007	18,612,521	228,000	-	84,000			
Crest MFB	2010	346,763	944	0	0			
DEC	2012	8,150,385	54,748	4,283,764	97,644			
Ere City MFB	2011	215,740	497	125,419	2,273			
Excel MFB	2011	1,440,185	2,501	1,002,195	20,300			
FADU	2001	1,351,953	134,538	293,863	156,064			
FBN MFB	2012	9,490,215	6,240	26,473,481	46,833			
FGMf8	2010	1,258,607	3,134	2,014,400	40,842			
Fortis MFB	2012	38,829,582	16,965	40,186,338	108,000			
Gboko MFB	2010	145,599	136	134,441	2,412			
Gobarau MFB	2009	94,090	135	115,619	650			
Grassroot	2012	266,696	6,370	605,764	-			
Greenland MFB	2010	276,167	227	319,051	227			
Grooming Centre	2011	23,963,745	193,850	10,631,837	-			
Hasal MFB	2012	6,191,201	5,129	10,789,452	56,169			

Iba MFB	2011	457,244	396	319,698	3,286
Ibu-Aje MFB	2011	371,615	1,103	411,350	4,988
ICMFB	2008	311,889	895	401,384	9,551
Ikire MFB	2011	409,735	876	523,440	8,647
Ikoyi-Ile MFB	2011	259,803	709	180,518	1,848
Ilobu MFB	2011	418,021	296	488,366	5,010
Iloffa MFB	2011	274,061	-	376,283	-
Ilora MFB	2011	95,684	212	86,461	-
Ilorin MFB	2011	430,173	470	407,454	7,287
IMFB	2008	24,465,686	23,304	14,336,279	152,827
IMHOKHAI FARMERS INITIATIVE	2010	28,442	216	715	216
Insight MFB	2011	314,266	214	465,808	15,551
Ipapo MFB	2010	343,289	2,440	341,908	4,204
Iperu MFB	2011	361,498	266	996,868	14,570
Karis MFB	2007	136,635	220	-	996
Keffi MFB	2012	264,924	2,478	656,577	6,883
Kernel MFB	2011	132	223	146	1,878
LAPO-NGR	2012	108,410,676	559,227	62,715,664	756,904
Leadcity MFB	2011	511,005	-	365,142	-
Legend MFB	2011	406,350	1,902	557,324	9,790
LFH	2006	276,423	1,882	-	0
LMI	2004	32,434	6,800	-	0
MBA MFB	2011	297,207	567	108,896	2,894
Mbaitoli MFB	2012	49,226	80	77,638	1,058
Moyofade MFB	2011	353,699	1,858	772,096	10,126
Multivest MFB	2011	444,649	1,067	517,219	10,156
Mutual Alliance S&L	2004	175,179	2,500	687,466	3,500
Nagarta MFB	2012	719,071	850	2,197,887	6,759
Nasarawa MFB	2010	862,678	2,538	1,200,170	17,979
North Capital MFB	2010	-	-	123,301	-
NSD	2010	248,981	1,520	329,308	1,860
Oakland MFB	2011	405	622	411	4,593
OAU MFB	2011	160,284	1,367	364,753	-
Obokun MFB	2011	128,989	393	84,692	1,818
Ogiyan MFB	2011	417	3,539	1,272	8,381
Okigwe Industrial MFB	2010	278,197	338	150,158	-
Okuku MFB	2011	712,330	342	462,842	4,181
Olofin MFB	2011	525,684	465	1,640,092	15,210
Ologbon MFB	2011	477,725	2,189	463,459	8,644

The Risk Management Practices of Microfinance Institutions in Nigeria 1248775

= × 🐧	× MFIs in Nigeria Microfina ×										
kmarl	ket.org/mfi/o	ountry/N	ligeria								
	Okigwe Industrial MFB	2010	278,197	338	150,158	-					
	Okuku MFB	2011	712,330	342	462,842	4,181					
	Olofin MFB	2011	525,684	465	1,640,092	15,210					
	Ologbon MFB	2011	477,725	2,189	463,459	8,644					
	Olomi MFB	2007	697,457	-	971,425	_					
	Olubasiri MFB	2011	725,308	2,967	660,456	5,708					
	Omak MFB	2011	410,506	1,791	-	3,080					
	Onibu-Ore MFB	2011	477,193	33,208	328,534	41,914					
	Oroke MFB	2011	385,530	1,271	609,612	5,409					
	OSCOTECH MFB	2011	424,926	750	610,777	2,808					
	Osogbo MFB	2011	162,065	1,615	70,080	2,411					
	Ospoly MFB	2011	158,995	164	1,763,989	3,031					
	Pace Setter MFB	2010	488,715	3,200	472,946	-					
	Pathfinder MFB	2011	236,307	534	279,692	3,501					
	Paypal Thrift and Loans	2010	918	5,011	-	-					
	SEAP	2012	59,419,085	349,470	42,264,282	372,130					
	Trustfund MFB	2011	2,433,294	2,164	2,857,885	41,334					
	WODASS	2010	156,310	1,520	20,698	1,530					
	Zion MFB	2010	201,789	866	371,980	2,250					

Appendix 2 - Descriptive Statistics

ws - [Table: UNT Edit Object Vie	ITLED Work w Proc Quicl	file: PANEL DA	dow Help	ntitled\]						
CObject Print Na	B	IFmt Grid+/- Title	Comments+/-	F	F	6	Г н			K
ate: 05/10/14 Ti ample: 1 800	me: 16:24	· · · · ·								
	MFI	FYR	CAR	PAR	ROA	LQTY	INF	ECG	OPR	OPEXPLON
vlean	NA	2007.500	0.403416	0.066788	0.072087	0.704577	11.40032	0.073830	0.274056	0.371226
vledian	NA	2007.500	0.322900	0.031250	0.038650	0.731650	11.01542	0.068600	0.167600	0.173100
√laximum	NA	2012.000	1.567200	0.965400	1.179900	2.911900	26.75076	0.106000	8.474900	7.668200
Minimum	NA	2003.000	-0.036200	0.000000	-0.421700	0.000000	-4.320573	0.054000	0.000200	0.000000
3td. Dev.	NA	2.874078	0.291609	0.111787	0.119718	0.230418	9.566604	0.016460	0.405847	0.659410
Bkewness	NA	0.000000	0.639561	4.320385	4.011682	0.835296	-0.012964	1.042835	11.59846	6.171422
<urtosis< td=""><td>NA</td><td>1.775758</td><td>2.427621</td><td>27.05937</td><td>25.09280</td><td>15.76011</td><td>1.783766</td><td>2.719893</td><td>215.0068</td><td>52.84753</td></urtosis<>	NA	1.775758	2.427621	27.05937	25.09280	15.76011	1.783766	2.719893	215.0068	52.84753
Jarque-Bera	NA	49.95898	65.45904	21783.87	18415.54	5520.373	49.32992	147.6159	1514271.	87904.08
Probability	NA	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000
Bum	NA	1606000.	322.7329	53.43060	57.66970	563.6619	9120.252	59.06400	218.9706	296.9810
Sum Sq. Dev.	NA	6600.000	67.94365	9.984573	11.45157	42.42095	73124.42	0.216478	131.4398	347.4222
Observations	0	800	800	800	800	800	800	800	799	800

Appendix 3 – The Nigerian Map



Source: NigeriaNews

Appendix 4 - Hausman Test

Appendix 5 - Coefficient Covariance Matrix

EViews - [E	FViews - [Equation: RANDOMEFFECTMODEL_Workfile: UNTITLED::Untitled\] File Edit Object View Proc Quick Options Window Help										
new Proc Object Print Name Freeze Estimate Forecast Stats Resids											
	Coefficient Covariance Matrix										
	C	PAR	ROA	INF	ECG	LQTY	SIZE	OPEXPLON	OPR		
C	0.009249	0.000574	-0.000316	-3.88E-06	-0.065837	-0.001132	-0.000550	4.28E-05	-9.22E-05		
PAR	0.000574	0.009075	-4.29E-05	-3.59E-06	-0.015214	0.000129	-2.12E-05	-3.04E-05	0.000128		
ROA	-0.000316	-4.29E-05	0.007336	1.36E-06	-0.000931	-9.89E-05	-1.30E-05	-6.32E-06	-2.31E-05		
INF	-3.88E-06	-3.59E-06	1.36E-06	2.74E-06	-0.000314	-9.22E-07	-2.70E-07	-4.48E-06	-5.09E-07		
ECG	-0.065837	-0.015214	-0.000931	-0.000314	0.936555	-0.003047	0.000608	-0.000873	0.000538		
LQTY	-0.001132	0.000129	-9.89E-05	-9.22E-07	-0.003047	0.001886	6.42E-06	1.65E-06	-7.88E-06		
SIZE	-0.000550	-2.12E-05	-1.30E-05	-2.70E-07	0.000608	6.42E-06	8.48E-05	-2.61E-06	-1.95E-05		
OPEXPLON	4.28E-05	-3.04E-05	-6.32E-06	-4.48E-06	-0.000873	1.65E-06	-2.61E-06	0.000269	-3.61E-05		
UPR	-9.22E-05	0.000128	-2.31E-05	-5.09E-07	0.000538	-7.88E-06	-1.95E-05	-3.61E-05	0.000683		
-											
-											
	•										1

Appendix 6 Distribution of Microfinance Banks in Nigeria



References

- Abdus, S. (2004). Performance of Interest Free Islamic Banks vis-à-vis Interest Based Conventional Banks of Bahrain, IIUM *Journal of Economics and Management*, 12 (2), pp. 115-129.
- Aboagye, A. Q. and Otieku, J. (2010), "Are Ghanaian MFIs' Performance Associated with Corporate Governance?" *Corporate Governance, Vol.* 10 Issue 3, pp. 307 - 320
- Ahlin C, Lin J, Maio M. 2011. Where does microfinance flourish? Microfinance institution performance in macroeconomic context. Journal of Development Economics 95(2): 105-120.
- Ahlin, C., & Lin, J. (2006).Luck or skill? MFI performance in macroeconomic context, bureau for research and economic analysis of development. BREAD Working Paper, No. 132. Cambridge, MA: Centre for International Development, Harvard University.
- Ahlin, C., Lin, J., & Maio, M. (2011). Where does microfinance flourish? Microfinance institution performance in macroeconomic context. Journal of Development Economics, 95(2), 105-120.
- Ahmad, R., Ariff, M., & Skully, M., 2009. The Determinants of Bank Capital Ratios in A Developing Economy. *Asia-Pacific Financial Markets*, 15(3-4), 255-272.
- Akerlof GA. 1970. Th e market for "lemons": quality uncertainty and the market mechanism. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 84(3): 488-500.
- Akhbari M, Mokhatab-Rafiei F. 2012. Presenting a fuzzy multi-objective simplex-genetic meta-heuristic algorithm for predicting credit rating of banks' customers, International Journal of Industrial Engineering and Production Management, (1), 80-91, (in Persian).
- Akhbari M, Mokhatab-Rafiei F.2010. The application of neural-fuzzy reasoning systems to the credit classification of banks' credit customers, Economic Research Journal, (92), 1-21, (in Persian)
- Al-Azzam, M., Mimouni, K., & Ali, M. A. (2012). The impact of socioeconomic factors and financial access on microfinance

institutions. *International Journal of Economics and Finance, 4*(4), 61–71. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/ijef.v4n4p61</u>

- Al-AzzamMd, Carter Hill R, Sarangi S. 2011. Repayment performance in group lending: Evidence from Jordan. *Journal of Development Economics* 97(2): 167-518.
- Alexander-Tedeschi, G. (2006), Here today, gone tomorrow: Can dynamic incentives make microfinance more flexible, *Journal of Development Economics*, 80 (1), pp. 84-105.
- Al-Mamun, A., Adaikalam, J., & Wahab, S. A. (2012). Investigating the effect of Amanahlkhtiar Malaysia's microcredit program on their clients quality of life in rural Malaysia. *International Journal of Economics and Finance, 4*(1), 192–203.
- Alquier, A. M. B. and Tignol, M. H. L. (2006) Risk management in smalland medium-sized enterprises, *Production Planning & Control: The Management of Operations, 17*(3), 273-282.
- Al-Tamimi, H.A.H. and F.M. Al-Mazrooei, (2007) Banks' risk management: A comparison study of UAE national and foreign banks, The Journal of Risk Finance, 8(4): 394-409.
- Altunbas, Y., Liu, M., Molyneux, P., Seth, R., 2000. Efficiency and Risk in Japanese Banking. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 24, 1605-1628.
- Annual Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs) Finance Conference & D-8 Workshop on Microfinance For Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) 15th August, <u>http://www.cenbank.org/out/2013/Speeches/MSMEs.pdf</u>
- Apostolik, R., C. Donohue and P. Went, 2009. Foundations of banking risk: An overview of banking, banking risks and risk-based banking regulation, London: John Wiley.
- Arasbmazar A, Roeentan P.2006.The factors affecting banks' consumer credit risk (case study: Agricultural Bank. Research-scientific double quarterly journal: Economical queries3 (6), 45-80,(in Persian)
- Armenda ´riz de Aghion, B., &Morduch, J. (2005).The economics of microfinance. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

- Armenda´riz, B., & Labie, M. (2011). Introduction and overview: An inquiry into the mismatch in microfinance. In B. Armenda´riz, & M. Labie (Eds.), The handbook of microfinance (pp. 3-13). London; Singapore: World Scientific Publishing.
- Armenda´riz, B., & Szafarz, A. (2011). On mission drift in microfinance institutions. In B. Armenda´riz, & M. Labie (Eds.), The handbook of microfinance(pp. 341-366). London; Singapore: World Scientific Publishing.
- Armendariz, B. (1999). On the design of a credit agreement with peer monitoring. Journal of Development Economics, 60(1), 79-104.
- Armendariz, B., & Morduch, J. (2005). The economics of microfinance. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Arvelo, M., Bell, J., Novak, C., Rose, J. and Venugopal, S. (2008).
 'Morgan Stanley's approach to assessing credit risks in the microfinance industry', Journal of Applied Corporate Finance, 20(1), pp. 124-134.
- Asare-Bekoe, K. M. (2010), "A Risk-Based Assessment of Ecobank Ghana Limited",
- Ashta A, Khan S, Otto PE. 2011. Does Microfinance Cause or Reduce Suicides? Policy Recommendations for Reducing Borrower Stress. Available at SSRN: <u>http://ssrn.com/abstract</u>= 1715442. (accessed On 8/03/2014)
- Asiedu, E. (2002). On the determinants of foreign direct investment to developing countries: Is Africa different? World Development, 30, 107-119.
- Asiedu, E. (2004). Policy reform and foreign direct investment in Africa: Absolute progress but relative decline. Development Policy Review, 22, 41-48.
- Augsburg B, Fouillet C. 2010.Profit empowerment: The microfinance institution's mission drift. *Perspectives on Global Development & Technology* 9(3/4): 327-355.
- Aveh, F. K., Krah, R. Y., &Dadzie, P. S. (2013). An Evaluation of Sustainability and Subsidy Dependence of Microfinance Institutions in

Ghana, International Business and Management Vol. 6, No. 1, 2013, pp. 55-63)

- Awojobi O., Amel R., and Norouzi S., (2011) MPRA Paper No. 33590, posted 22. September 2011 05:28 UTC, <u>http://mpra.ub.uni-</u> <u>muenchen.de/33590/</u>
- Ayayi, A. G. (2012). Credit risk assessment in the microfinance industry, Economics of Transition, 20 (1), pp. 37-72.
- Ayayi, G. A. (2012). Credit risk assessment in the microfinance industry. *Economics of Transition, 20*(1), 37-72. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0351.2011.00429.x</u>
- Bald, Joachim. January 2000. Liquidity Management: A Toolkit for Microfinance Institutions. Deutsche Gesellschaft f
 ür Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ) GmbH. Postfach 5180, 65726 Eschborn, Germany. Internet:http://www.gtz.de.
- Balin, B., J. (2008). Basel I, Basel II, and Emerging Markets: A Nontechnical Analysis. The Johns Hopkins University School of Advanced International Studies.
- Baltagi H. B. (2005) Econometric Analysis of Panel Data John Wiley and Sons Ltd. West Sussex, UK
- Baltagi, BH (1995) *Econometric Analysis of Panel Data*, Wiley, Chichester.
- Banerjee, A. V., Besley, T., & Guinnane, T. (1994). Thy neighbor's keeper: The design of a credit cooperative with theory and a test. The Quarterly, Journal of Economics, 109(2), 491-515.
- Banerjee, A., &Duflo, E. (2011).Poor economics: A radical rethinking of the way to fight global poverty. New York: Public Affairs.
- Banerjee, A., Besley, T., & Guinnane, T. (1994). The neighbor's keeper: The design of a credit cooperative theory and a test. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 109(2), 491-515.
- Bank for International Settlements (BIS). (2006). Basel II: International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards: A Revised Framework. Available online at: <u>http://www.bis.org</u> (accessed On 8/03/2014)

- Bank for International Settlements (BIS).(2010), 80th Annual Report,
 Basel. Available online at: <u>http://www.bis.org</u> (accessed 0n 8/03/2014)
- Bank of Ghana (2001), Report on Rural Bank Failures Bank of Ghana, Accra
- Bank of Ghana (2006), Bank of Ghana web site, available at: <u>www.bog.gov.gh</u> (accessed On 8/03/2014)
- Bank of Ghana (2007): "A Note on Microfinance in Ghana, Research Department Working Paper WP/BOG-07/01 (August).
- Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, (2010).Countercyclical capital buffer proposal.Available online at: <u>http://www.bis.org</u> (accessed On 8/03/2014)
- Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, (2010).Guidance for National Authorities Operating the Countercyclical Capital. Available online at: <u>http://www.bis.org</u> (accessed 0n 8/03/2014)
- Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, (2011).Basel III: A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking systems. Available online at: <u>http://www.bis.org</u> (accessed 0n 8/03/2014)
- Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. (2009). Strengthening the Resilience of the Banking Sector, Consultative Document. Available onlineat: <u>http://www.bis.org</u> (accessed 0n 8/03/2014)
- Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. 2000. Credit rating and complementary sources of Credit quality information, Working paper, (3).
- Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. 2006. Basel II: international convergence of capital measurement and capital standards: a revised framework—comprehensive version. Bank of International Settlements, Basel.
- Bashin, V.K. and Akpalu, W. (2001), Impact Of Micro-finance Enterprises on the Efficiency of Micro-Enterprises in Cape Coast, *IFLIP Research Paper 01-5, Geneva.*
- Bateman M. 2010. *Why Doesn't Microfinance Work? Th e Destructive Rise of Local Neo-Liberalism*. Zed Books: London. Centre for the Study of Financial Innovation (CSFI). 2011.

- Bebchuk, L. A., & Cohen, A. (2005). The costs of entrenched boards. Journal of Financial Economics, 78, 409-433.
- Bebchuk, L. A., Cohen, A., & Ferrell, A. (2009). What matters in corporate governance? Review of Financial Studies, 22, 783-827.
- Berger, AN & Young, R., 1997. Problem Loans and Cost Efficiency In Commercial Banks. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 21, 849-870.
- Berglöf, E., & Claessens, S. (2006). Enforcement and good corporate governance in developing countries and transition economies. World Bank Research Observer, 21, 123-150.
- Berryman, Mark P., Nary Naim, Alice Negre, and Bikki Randhawa. 2007. "BenchmarkingSME Banking Practices: What Are the Lessons Emerging?" *Enterprise Development and Microfinance* 18, no. 4:303-14.
- Bhattamishra, R., & Barrett, C. (2010). Community-based risk management arrangements: A review. World Development, 38(7), 923-932. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2009.12.017</u>
- Bikker, J.A. and H. Hu, 2002. Cyclical Patterns in Profits, Provisioning and Lending of Banks and Pro-cyclicality of the New Basle Capital Requirements. BNL Quarterly Review, 221, 143-175.
- BIS (July, 2004). Implementation of Basel II: Practical Consideration. Basel Committee on Bank Supervision, *BIS Publications*.
- BIS. 2004. Bank for International Settlements 2004, International Convergence of Capital Measurement Capital Standards: A Revised Framework. BIS Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, Basel.
- Blanco A, Pino-Mejias R, Lara J, Rayo S.2013.Credit scoring models for the microfinance industry using neural networks: Evidence from Peru. Expert Systems with Applications 40.356-364.
- Bodie Z., A. Kane and A. J. Marcus, 2008. *Investments* 7th edition. New York. Mc-Graw Hill/Irwin.
- Bogan, V. L. (2012). Capital structure and sustainability: an empirical study of microfinance institutions, *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 94 (4), pp. 1045-1058.

- Bruett,T. (2004). Four Risks That Must Be Managed by Microfinance Institutions. Microfinance Experience, Series 2. November. ACT publications. 1st edition.1-2
- Cadbury, A. (1992). Report of the committee on the financial aspects of corporate governance (first ed.). London: Gee and Company Limited.
- Callaghan, Ian, Henry Gonzalez, Diane Maurice, and Christian Novak.
 2007. "Microfinance:On the Road to Capital Markets." *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance* 19, no. 1:115-24.
- Capon N. 1982. Credit scoring systems: a critical analysis. Journal of Marketing 46(2): 82-91.
- CGAP (Consultative Group to Assist the Poor). 2002. *Donor Brief*, 6. Washington, DC: CGAP. 2004. *Annual Report*. Washington, DC: CGAP.
- Chen R-R, Fabozzi, F.J., Pan, G.G., and Sverdlove, R. (2006) Sources of credit risk: Evidence from credit default swaps, *The Journal of Fixed Income, 16*(3), 7-21.
- Chen, C. R., & Steiner, T. L. (2000). Tobin's Q, managerial ownership, and analyst coverage: A nonlinear simultaneous equations model. Journal of Economics and Business, 52, 365-382.
- China Rural Commercial Bank Market Report, 2010-2011, Research in China, http://www.researchinchina.com/Htmls/Report/2011/6137.html
- Churchil, C. & Cheryl F. (2006). *Making Microfinance Work: Managing for Improved Performance*. Geneva: International Labour Office (ILO) Publications, 1st edition.144-146.
- Claessens, S. (2006). Corporate governance and development. World Bank Research Observer, 21, 91–122.
- Collins M, Harvey K, Nigro P. 2001. The influence of bureau scores, customized scores and judgmental review on the bank underwriting decision making process. Paper presented at the Federal Reserve System
- Constantinou D, Ashta A. 2010. Comment la microfinance surmonte-telle les crises fi nancières et économiques? *Techniques Financièreset Développement* 99: 31-44.

- Constantinou D, Ashta A. 2011. Financial crisis: Lessons from microfinance. *Strategic Change* 20(5/6): 187-203.
- Consultative Group to Assist the Poor (CGAP). 2009. *The Global Financial Crisis and Its Impact on Microfinance*. CGAP: Washington DC.
- Copestake J. 2007. Mainstreaming microfinance: Social performance management or mission drift? *World Development* 35(10): 1721-1738.
- Coulter, J. and G.E. Onumah. (2002). The role of warehouse receipt systems in enhanced commodity marketing and rural livelihoods in Africa. Food policy 27: 319-337.
- CSFI (2008).Microfinance banana skins Risk in a booming industry. London: Centre for the Study of Financial Innovation (CSFI).
- CSFI (2009).Microfinance banana skins Confronting crisis and change. London: Centre for the Study of Financial Innovation (CSFI).
- CSFI (2011).Microfinance banana skins The CSFI survey of microfinance risk - Losing its fairy dust. London: Centre for the Study of Financial Innovation (CSFI).
- Cull R, Demirgüç-Kunt A, Morduch J. 2011. Does regulatory supervision curtail microfinance profitability and outreach? *World Development* 39(6): 949-965.
- Cull, R., Demirgu[°]c_-Kunt, A., &Morduch, J. (2009a). Microfinance meets the market. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 23, 167-192
- Cull, R., Demirgu[°]c_-Kunt, A., Morduch, J. (2009b). Banks and microbanks. World Bank Policy Research Paper No. 5078. Washington DC.
- Dalis, D.T., 2010. The Nigerian banking system and the challenges of financial intermediation in the twenty first century, Jos Journal of Economics, 4(1): 93-108.
- Deflem, M. (1995). Corruption, law, and justice: A conceptual clarification. Journal of Criminal Justice, 23, 243-258. Economist. (2010). The rewards of virtue: Does good corporate governance pay? Studies give contradictory answers. Economist, 26 April.

- Demirguc-Kunt, A, and Huizinga, H., 1998. Determinants of Commercial Bank Interest Margins and Profitability: Some International Evidence, *World Bank Policy Research Working Papers*, WPS1900.
- Dennis W. 1995.Fair lending and credit scoring. Mortgage Banking 56(2): 55-59.
- Deutsche Gesellschaft Fur Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ). (2000) A Risk Management Framework for Microfinance Institutions, Frankfurt: GTZ. 5-27.
- Deutsche GesellschaftfürTechnischeZusammenarbeit (GTZ). 2000. A Risk Management Framework for Microfinance Institutions. Deutsche GesellschaftfürTechnischeZusammenarbeit (GTZ): Frankfurt.
- DFID (2010). AusAid-DFID-3ie systematic reviews. London: DFID.
- DFID, (2011). Systematic review in international development: An initiative to strengthen evidence-informed policy making [E-text type]. http://www.dfid.gov.uk/r4d/systematic reviewfeature.asp/> Last accessed January 25, 2012
- Drehmann, M., &Gambacorta, L. (2011). The Effects of Countercyclical Capital Buffers on Bank Lending. Applied Economic Letters.
- Drehmann, M., Borio, C., &Tsatsaronis, K. (2011).Anchoring Countercyclical Capital Buffers: The Role of Credit Aggregates. Monetary and Economic Department, Bank for International Settlements.
- Drehmann, M., Borio, C., Gambacorta, L., Jiménez, G., &Trucharte, C. (2010). Countercyclical capital buffers: exploring options. BIS Working Papers No 317.
- Easton, Tom. 2005. "The Hidden Wealth of the Poor." *Economist*, November 5. Available at <u>http://www.economist.com/surveys/displaystory.cfm?story_idpE1_VDS</u> JPNQ. (accessed 0n 8/03/2014)
- Ehrbeck, Tilman. 2006. "Optimizing Capital Supply in Support of Microfinance Industry Growth." McKinsey & Co. presentation at Microfinance Investor Roundtable, Washington, DC, October 24-25.

- Fadzlan, S, and Habibullah, M., 2010. "Does Economic Freedom Fosters Banks" Performance? Panel Evidence from Malaysia" *Journal of Contemporary Accounting & Economics*, 6, 77-91.
- Falemi, A. and C. Luft, 2002. Corporate risk management cost and benefits, Global Finance Journal, 13: 29-38.
- Feldman R. 1997. Banks and big change in technology called credit scoring. The Region 11(3): 18.
- Fernando NA. 2002. ASA Th e Ford Motor Model of Microfinance. In ADB's Quarterly Newsletter of the Focal Point for Microfinance. Asian Development Bank (AsDB): Manila.
- Fernando NA. 2008. *Managing Microfinance Risks: Some Observations and Suggestions*. Asian Development Bank (AsDB): Manila.
- Flamini, V, McDonald, C, and Schumacher, L., 2009. The Determinants of Commercial Bank Profitability in Sub-Saharan Africa. *IMF Working Paper*, WP/09/15.
- Focus Group, 2007. Credit Risk Management Industry Best Practices. (http://www.bangladeshbank.org/mediaroom/corerisks/creditrisks.pdf (Accessed 02 Oct 2012).
- Freytag C. 2008. Credit scoring: why scepticism is justified. In New Partnerships for Innovation in Microfinance, Mattha["] us-Maier I, von
- Gaiha, R., & Nandhi, M. A. (2009). Microfinance, self-help groups and empowerment in Maharashtra. In R. Jha (Ed.), The Indian economy sixty years after independence. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gao, S., Sung, M. C., Zhang, J. (2011) Risk Management Capability Building in SMEs: A Social Capital Perspective, (on line) *International Small Business Journal*.
- Garay, U., & González, M. (2008). Corporate governance and firm value: The case of Venezuela. Corporate Governance: An International Review, 16, 194-209.
- Ghatak, M and T.W. Guinnane (1999) "The Economics lending with joint liability: Theory and practice", *Journal of Development Economics 32(1)*, pp23.

- Godquin M. 2004. Microfinance repayment performance in Bangladesh: How to improve the allocation of loans by MFIs. *World Development* 32(11): 1909-1926.
- Gonzalez A. 2007. Resilience of microfinance institutions to national macroeconomic events: An econometric analysis of MFI asset quality. MIX Discussion Paper.
- Greenbury, S. R. (1995). Directors' remuneration. London: Gee and Company Limited.
- Gregoire, J. R., Tuya, O. R. (2006). Cost Efficiency of Microfinance Institutions in Peru: A Stochastic Frontier Approach, *Latin American Business Review*, 7 (2), pp. 41-70.
- Gupta, S. V.; Chaula, P. M.; & Harkawat, S. (2012). Measuring performance of microfinance institutions in India, *Annamalai International Journal of Business Studies & Research*, 7 (1), pp. 14-23.
- Hartarska, V., & Nadolnyak, D. (2007). Do regulated microfinance institutions achieve better sustainability and outreach? Cross-country evidence. *Applied Economics*, *39*(10), 1207-1222. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00036840500461840</u>
- He, G., Du, X., Bai, C., and Li, Z. (2009), China Microfinance Industry Assessment Report, China Association of Microfinance.
- Hearn, B. (2011). The impact of corporate governance measures on the performance of West African IPO firms. Emerging Markets Review, 12, 130-151.
- Hillier, D., Pindado, J., Queiroz, V. D., & Torre, C. D. L. (2011). The impact of country-level corporate governance on research and development. Journal of International Business Studies, 42, 76-98.
- Hitchins, J, Hogg, M; and Mallet, D., 2001. *Banking: A Regulatory Accounting and Auditing Guide* (Institute of Chartered Accountants).
- <u>http://www.bis.org/bcbs/basel3.htm</u> (accessed 0n 11/05/2014)
- <u>http://www.cenbank.org/out/2010/pressrelease/gov/gov%20press%20</u> <u>conferenec%20target%20exams.pdf</u>. (accessed 28/03/2014)

- <u>http://www.cenbank.org/Out/2011/publications/dfd/Reviewed%20Mic</u> rofinance%20Policy%20July%2012%202011.pdf (accessed 15/03/2014)
- Hull, J. C. (2007), *Risk Management and Financial Institutions,* Pearson Prentice Hall, New Jersey, pp. 1-10.
- Hulme, D., & Mosley, P. (1996).Finance against poverty (Vol. 1).
 London: Routledge.
- Imai KS, Gaiha R, Thapa G, Annim SK. 2012. Microfinance and poverty—a macro perspective. World Development 40(8): 1675-1689.
- Imai, K. S., Gaiha, R., Thapa, G., &Annim, S. K. (2012). Microfinance and poverty – A macro perspective. World Development, 40(8), 1675–1689.
- Imai, S. K., Arun, T., & Annim, S. K. (2010a). Microfinance and household poverty reduction: New evidence from India. World Development, 38(12).
- Imai, S. K., Gaiha, R., & Thapa, G. (2010b). Is the millennium development goal of poverty still achievable? Role of institutions, finance and openness. Oxford Development Studies, 38(3), 309-337.
- IMF, (2011).World economic outlook. Available online at: <u>http://www.imf.otg</u>. (accessed 0n 8/03/2014)
- International Fund for Agricultural Development (2008), *The Republic of Ghana Rural and Agricultural Finance Program*, IFAD, RAFiP, Rome.
- Jacelly, C., & Maximiliano, G. (2010). Ownership And Capital Structure In Latin America. *Journal Of Business Research*, 63, 248-254. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2009.03.010</u>
- Jalili M, KhodaiValehZaqrd M, Kenshoulh M.2009.Validation of real customers in the national banking system, Quarterly Journal of Quantitative Studies in Management, 127-148, (in Persian).
- Jin, J., Yu, Z., and Mi, C. (2012) Commercial bank credit risk management based on grey incidence analysis, *Grey Systems: Theory and Application, 2* (3), 385-394, McKinsey & Company (1997), Credit Portfolio View. New York, Mckinsey Inc.
- Jorion, P. (2007). Value-at-risk: the new benchmark for managing financial risk (3rd ed.). McGraw-Hill: New York.

- Kai, H., & Hamori, S. (2009). Microfinance and inequality. Research in Applied Economics, 1(1: E14), 1-14.
- Kannan, N. and N. Thangavel, 2008. Risk Management in the financial services industry, Academic Open Internet Journal, 22(7).
- Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A., & Mastruzzi, M. (2009).Governance matters VIII: Aggregate and individual governance indicators,1996-2008 World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 4978. Washington, USA: The World Bank.
- Kauko, K.(2012). External deficits and non-performing loans in the recent financial crisis. Economics Letters, 115, 196-199. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2011.12.018</u> (accessed 0n 8/03/2014)
- Kennedy P. (2008) A Guide to Econometrics. 6ed. Blackwell Publishing Ltd.UK
- Keshavarz- Hadad GH, Ayati- Azegar H. 2007. Performance comparison of Logit model and classification and regression tree method in real applicants' validation process for the use of banking facilities, Economic Research Journal, 7 (4), 71-97, (in Persian).
- Khandker, S. R. (2005). Micro-finance and poverty: Evidence using panel data from Bangladesh. The World Bank Economic Review, 19(2), 263-286.
- Khavul, S., Bruton, G., & Wood, E. (2009). Informal family business in Africa. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *33*(6), 1217-1236.
- Klapper, L. F., & Love, I. (2004). Corporate governance, investor protection, and performance in emerging markets. Journal of Corporate Finance, 10, 703-728.
- Kleimeier S, Dinh THT. 2007. A credit scoring model for Vietnam's retail banking market. International Review of Financial Analysis 16(5): 471-495
- Konishi, M., Yasuda, Y., 2004. Factors Affecting Bank Risk Taking: Evidence from Japan. *Journal of Banking and Finance* 28: 215-232.

- Kunghehian, N. (2012). From Basel II to Basel III, Moody's analytics. Moody's analytics, (2012). Basel III New Capital and Liquidity Standards - FAQs.
- Kwan, S and Eisenbeis, R, 1997. Bank Risk, Capitalization and Operating Efficiency. *Journal of Financial Services Research* 12, 117-131.
- La Porta, R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F., &Shleifer, A. (2008). The economic consequences of legal origins. Journal of Economic Literature, 46, 285-332.
- La Porta, R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F., Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. (2000). Investor protection and corporate governance. Journal of Financial Economics, 58, 3-27.
- Lambsdorff, J. G. (2003). How corruption affects productivity. Kyklos, 56, 457-474.
- Ledgerwood, J. A. (1999). *Microfinance Handbook: An Institutional and Financial Perspective*. Washington, DC World Bank
- Littlefield, Elizabeth, and Martin Holtman. 2005. "Microfinanciers Overtake Their Commercial Peers." *Banker* (July 4): 27-30.
- Liu, S. T. (2010). Measuring and categorizing technical efficiency and productivity change of commercial banks in Taiwan. *Expert Systems with Applications, 37*(4), pp27.
- Maxwell, J. A. (1992). Understanding and validity in qualitative research. *Harvard Educational Review, 62*(3), 279-300
- Mersland, R., & Strom, R. Ø. (2008). Performance and governance in microfinance institutions. Journal of Banking and Finance, 33(4), 662-669.
- Mersland, R., & Strom, R. Ø. (2010). Microfinance mission drift?.World Development, 38(1), 28-36.
- *Microfinance Banana Skins 2011*. Centre for the Study of Financial Innovation (CSFI): New York.
- Mirzaee H, Nazaryan R, Bagheri R.2011.Factors affecting credit risk of banks' real entities (the case study: national bank branch), Quarterly Journal of Economic Research 19 (58), Tehran, 67-98, (in Persian).

- Mosley, P. (2001). Microfinance and poverty in Bolivia. Journal of Development Studies, 37(4), 101-132.
- Nagarajan, G. & Parker, J. (2000). Can Microfinance meet the poors financial needs in times of natural disaster, Study supported by USAID.
 Bethesda, MD: Microenterprise Best Practices, 4-5.
- Nair, A. and Fissha, A. (2010), "Rural Banking: The Case of Rural and Community Banks in Ghana", *Agriculture and Rural Development Discussion Paper 48, the World Bank, Washington, D.C*
- National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) (2011). The Management of Microfinance Banking in Nigeria and Development of Small-Scale Enterprise, National Bureau of Statistics, Nigeria (NBS)
- Navarrete E, Navajas S. 2006. Basel II and microfinance. Inter-American Development Bank Microenterprise Development Review 9(1): 1-8.
- Neely, Michelle Clark, and David Wheelock, 1997. "Why Does Bank Performance Vary Across States?" *Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Review*, March/April, 27-40.
- Nili M, Sabzavary H. 2008. Estimating and comparing Logit credit rating model by using hierarchical analysis method (AHP). Journal Sharif, (43), 105-117, (in Persian).
- Nimal A. Fernando (2008) Managing Microfinance Risks, Some Observations and Suggestions East Asia Department July 2008 pp1-3
- Nirmal, A.F. (2008). Managing Microfinance risks: some observations and suggestions, Asian Journal of Agriculture and Development, 4 (2), 6-7.
- North, D. C. (1990).Institutions, institutional change and economic performance. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. OECD. (2004).
 OECD principles of corporate governance. Paris: OECD.
- Ojo, A., 2008. Efficiency of Capital Regulation for Nigerian Banks. Nigerian Journal of Economics and Social Science vol. 51(2), 667-679
- Okpara, J. O. (2011). Corporate governance in a developing economy: Barriers, issues, and implications for firms. Corporate Governance, 11, 184-199.

- Okpukpara, B. C. (2010) "Credit constraints and adoption of modern cassava production technologies in rural farming communities of Anambra State, Nigeria" African Journal of Agricultural Research Vol. 5(24), pp. 3379-3386
- Olomola, A.S (2000) "Effects of membership homogeneity on the Design and performance of informal finance groups in Rural Nigeria: A Research Report, African Economic. Research Consortium (AERC) Nairobi Kenya Paper Number 102.
- Pantoja, E. (2002). Microfinance and Disaster Risk Management: Experience and Lessons Learned, Washington, DC: Provention Consortium Draft Final Report First edition, 9-11.
- Patil, V. G. (2011) Golden Research Thoughts 1 (5), pp. 1-4.
- Pollio, G. & Obuobie, J. (2010). Microfinance Default Rates in Ghana: Evidence from Individual-Liability Credit Contracts. Retrieved August 16th, 2013 from <u>www.themix.org/publications/microbanking-</u> <u>bulletin/2010/11/microfinance-default-rates-ghana-evidence-</u> <u>individual-liab</u> (accessed 0n 8/03/2014)
- Powers, J. (2005). Shifting Technical Assistance Needs for Commercial MFIs: A Focus on Risk Management Tools, New York: Banyan Global publication, 3-4.
- Rabelo, F., & Vasconcelos, F. (2002).Corporate governance in Brazil. Journal of Business Ethics, 37, 321-335.
- Raz, T. and D. Hillson, 2005. A comparative review of risk management standards, Risk Management: An International Journal, 7(4): 53-66.
- Repullo, R., & Saurina, J. (2011). The countercyclical capital buffer of Basel III.A critical assessment. Bank of Spain. Available online at <u>www.ftp://ftp.cemfi.es</u> (accessed 0n 8/03/2014)
- Rhyne, Elisabeth & Otero, M. (2006). *Microfinance Through the Next Decade, Visioning the Who, What, Where, When and How.* Boston: Accion International publication, First edition, 20-21.
- Rossouw, G. J. (2005). Business ethics and corporate governance in Africa. Business Society, 44, 94–106.

- Rowe, T. and J. Kim, 2010. Analysing the relationship between systematic risk and financial variables in the casino industry, UNLV Gaming & Research Journal, 12(2)
- Rwanda: Microfinance Sector. (2006). *African Research Bulletin: Economic, Financial, and Technical Series,* 43 (6), pp. 17012-17012.
- S. Khavul (2009) Microfinance: Creating Opportunities for the Poor? Academy of Management Perspectives Journal August Pp1 Accessed 15/03/2014 at 3.53am
- Sandstorm A. (2009); "*Political Risk in Credit Evaluation*"; World Bank Group.
- Sandstorm A. (2009); "*Political Risk in Credit Evaluation*"; World Bank Group.
- Sathye, M, Bartle, J, Vincent, M; & Boffey R., 2003. *Credit Analysis and Lending Management*. Sydney: John Wiley & Sons, Australia, Ltd.
- Saunders, A. and Cornett, M., 2006. *Financial Institutions Management: a Risk Management Approach.* McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Saunders, A., Wilson, B., 2001. An Analysis of Bank Charter Value And Its Risk Constraining Incentives. *Journal of Financial Services Research* 192(3), 185-195.
- Schreiner M. 2003. Scoring: the next breakthrough in microfinance. CGAP Occasional Paper (7)
- Schreiner M. 2004. Scoring arrears at a microlender in Bolivia. Journal of Microfinance 6(2): 65-88.
- Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1997). A survey of corporate governance. Journal of Finance, 52, 737-783.
- SinkyJr, Joseph F.1992 .commercial bank financial management , edition ; Macmillan
- Soren H. (2002). Household, Group and Programme factors in Group based Agricultural Credit Delinquency. Ripon College USA
- Sutton, C.N. and B. Jenkins, 2007. The role of the financial services sector in expanding economic opportunity, Corporate Social

Responsibility Initiative Report No. 19. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University

- Swanson, Brad. 2007. "The Role of Capital Markets in Microfinance." Paper presented at a symposium on credit markets for the poor, Columbia University Business School, April 20. <u>http://archive.nyu.edu/bitstream/2451/27406/3/FIN-07-054.pdf.txt</u>. (accessed On 8/03/2014)
- Tian-Shyug L, Chih-Chou Ch, Chi-Jie L, I-Fei Ch. 2002. Credit scoring using the hybrid neural discriminant technique, Expert Systems with Applications, 23, 245-254.
- Transparency International. (2009). Global corruption report 2009: Corruption and the private sector. Cambridge: Cambridge University.
- Tyrone, T. L., Chia-Chi, L. & Chun-Hung, C. (2011). Impacts of the borrower's attributes, loan contract contents, and collateral characteristics on mortgage loan default, *The Service Industries Journal*, 31 (9), pp. 1385-1404).
- Vogelgesang U. 2003. Microfinance in times of crisis: the effects of competition, rising indebtedness, and economic crisis on repayment behaviour. World Development 31(12): 2085-2114
- Von Stauffenberg, Damian. 2007. "Survey of Microfinance Investment Vehicles. Paper presented at a symposium on credit markets for the poor, Columbia University, Business School. April 20. 2007
- White, H., 1980. "A Heteroskedastic-Consistent Covariance Matrix Estimator and a Direct Test of Heteroskedasticity," *Econometrica*, 48, 817-838
- World Bank (2007).World Development Indicators, available at: <u>http://www.data.worldbank</u>.org/datacatalog/world_development_indic ators. Last accessed: December 14, 2009.
- World Bank MDG Reports
 <u>http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/pdf/report-2013/mdg-report-2013-english.pdf</u>. Accessed 15/03/2014 at 3.00am

 Zou, H., M.B. Adams and M.J. Buckle, 2003. Corporate risk and property insurance: evidence from the People's Republic of China, The Journal of Risk and Insurance, 70(2): 289-314.